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>ONNECT

OPPORTUNITIES

CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of In Technical
Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibilities, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”).
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this
report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this report misleading.

SZL

17

GEMDI RABREBXALETHHEMEATATH
EsREARBNDIEAFTRELTH S
B-BEREERTHRENZFLAM
BrERR YERKSBEEAFNERRA
EHRERE -

HREGEMLEH 2 2F —KRAPNELD
B EGEMEENEZ TRHEEBRRERE
ENEBFAIBRANTERBAR  BE
TEERBEGIMEENR S EEARE
Bomig-

BEEXZREENM AR R B REER AT A
BENABZHTREE  HHEE LA T ENM
TN X AL (] 22 B - I B R 8L 1 Bt B AR
¥R & 2 BB B AL ] BE 7 A & T EE AL 3K A fa FE
ZEAB M S| HAE]BARAEE M EE -

K& B A R BTGEMEE %5 _E i 4 Al
(TGEM £ 77 # Rl J) i #& # & B4 In Technical
Productions Holdings Limited ([ 28 2 & /) & &
K& 2 m] ([ A EE ) B & AN A E
F([EF]) Bt KX # &+ 7] K 8 5l # & 2 58
B -EFLEH G EEHEHER 5t
REFFAR S P REMBERESE
AT H B ERE R T E - W fEFRE 3 B FF AL
7 AW FEEREMAMERT  HEEFF
o] [ 211t 3t 7N 37 25 BE A AR A2 o



Contents H &%

02

Corporate Information

REEH
04

Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

06

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

19

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

39

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE -HERERBRE

58

Report of the Board of Directors
EETERE

76

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EEREEEBASZEE

82
Independent Auditor’s Report

B BEHRE
87

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEeEmkAEMEEERER
89

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A MBRR R

91
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RERBEEEHR
92

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER
94

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRWE
172

Financial Summary

MBEEE



02

Corporate Information

DR EH

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Ma Lie (Chairman of the board)

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Tam Chun Yu

Ms. Zhang Yan Ling

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Yue
Mr. Cui Hai Bin
Mr. Ji Gui Bao
Ms. Jiang Yu E
Mr. Li Xiao Hua

Audit Committee

Mr. Ji Gui Bao (Chairman)
Mr. Cui Hai Bin

Mr. Chen Yue

Ms. Jiang Yu E

Mr. Li Xiao Hua

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Cui Hai Bin (Chairman)
Mr. Ji Gui Bao

Mr. Chen Yue

Ms. Jiang Yu E

Mr. Li Xiao Hua

Nomination Committee

Mr. Ma Lie (Chairman)
Mr. Ji Gui Bao

Mr. Cui Hai Bin

Mr. Chen Yue

Ms. Jiang Yu E

Mr. Li Xiao Hua

Ms. Zhang Yan Ling

Authorised Representatives (For the purposes of
the GEM Listing Rules)

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis
Ms. Leung Yin Fai (HKICPA, ACCA, CPA Australia)

Compliance Officer
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis

Company Secretary
Ms. Leung Yin Fai (HKICPA, ACCA, CPA Australia)

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Second Annual Report 2022

Esg
BITES
BREE(EEELR)
% S (PR 3)
BRFAE
%L+

BAFHTES
R 5
BIEAE kL
REHEE
EEML L
T S

BEREES

KEEERE(EE)
BRERLE

PR B 55
EEREE
FRELE

FHWEES

BB (EE)
RERAE
R A
EEMEL
R S
REZ8E
BRI ()
RERAE
BSRSE
PR 5
EEMLL
FRELL
R Lt

RERKXR(BGEM LT REI™ =)

BIEEEE

RFIE 2T+ (HKICPA - ACCA ~ CPACEM))

BREME
1BIsAE

RAME

2 W 42+ (HKICPA ~ ACCA ~ CPA (EM))



Corporate Information (Continued)

Registered Office in Cayman Islands

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,
P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1108 Cayman Islands

Headquarters and Principal Place of Business in
Hong Kong

Unit D2, 5/F, Hoi Bun Industrial Building,
6 Wing Yip Street, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Cayman Islands Principal Share Registrar and
Transfer Agent

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,
P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands

Auditor

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

and Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

23/F, Tower 2, Enterprise Square Phase Five, 38 Wang Chiu Road,
Hong Kong

Legal Adviser

Baker & McKenzie

14/F, One Taikoo Place,

979 King's Road, Quarry Bay,

Hong Kong

Principal Banker

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
1 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong

Company Website

www.intechproductions.com

Stock Code
8446

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —Z=——F&% =% 03

~NAElEH (E)

FEHBEEMBRERE

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,
P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1108 Cayman Islands

RAMEERBEEIREREH

EBNBE

HIELESTH
BETLXKRNESED2E
EERNBFEFERDE
BEBHFELZERAQ A
EBERBI65R
RERRESRAEL17E

HEREROBFERAR

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,
P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands

= EEm
FELZESMEBSAERA A
HE TR
KRR F a5 B B Az 2D
BB
RIRIBEISH I EEILFE A2 E23E
EEER

B 75 e ZRERRE 2 AN E A5 A

BB

8 f R I 23897957
Rt — 1442
FEFRET

FE LB EZETARADA
BEERRNEBEHR IR

A T 49 31k

www.intechproductions.com

IR AD 1K 5%

8446



04

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

To all shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, | am
pleased to present the audited consolidated annual financial statements
of In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together referred as the “Group”) for the period from 1 June
2022 to 31 December 2022.

As the COVID-19 outbreak subsided, governments around the world
relaxed the implementation of social distancing policies, quarantine orders
and travel restrictions, which had a positive impact on the recovery of
businesses worldwide. The outbreak of the pandemic in the region where
our major operations are located has been largely contained by the
effective prevention and control measures taken by the governments of
the region, which has had a positive impact on our business. In light of
the above, there was an increase in performances and events compared
to last year. For the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the
Group recognized revenue of approximately HK$20.4 million from
providing visual display solutions to its customers in relation to pop
concert shows and various other live events, representing an increase of
HK$1.0 million or 5% over that for the year ended 31 May 2022.

Although traditional performances and events have been adversely
affected by the COVID-19 outbreak which has impacted our business in
recent years, the Group has started to seek and successfully explored new
business opportunities that can leverage on our existing video display
eguipment. The business opportunities arise from the market demand for
new technologies, with metaverse technologies defined as the next
generation of Internet technologies, covering both the Internet and the
real world. These technologies can be widely used for visual displays with
visual effects to realize extended reality (xR) performances/events and
virtual human performances. On 18 August 2022, the Group completed
the acquisition of 22.9% of the then enlarged issued share capital of
Shenzhen Xinhang Information Technology Company Limited (“Shenzhen
Xinhang"), which is principally engaged in (i) the provision of one-stop
technical consulting services and solutions for e-commerce business
platforms; and (ii) the metaverse technology business. As the Group has
control over the board of directors of Shenzhen Xinhang, the financial
results of Shenzhen Xinhang have been consolidated to the Group's
consolidated results for the seven-month period ended 31 December
2022 since 18 August 2022. Shenzhen Xinhang under the Group will
extend its business into the field of metaverse technology and explore the
application of this technology to its existing video display business.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Second Annual Report 2022
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the revenue
of provision of information technology consulting services amounted to
approximately HK$19.5 million (representing 48.4% of the total revenue)
which was mainly contributed by information technology projects of
customers in the People’s Republic of China, for the purpose of this
report, excluding Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and
Taiwan (the “PRC").

The Group's gross profit for the seven-month period ended 31 December
2022 was approximately HK$11.0 million, compared to a gross loss of
approximately HK$11.5 million for the year ended 31 May 2022. The net
profit of the Group was approximately HK$7.5 million, compared to the
net loss of approximately HK$24.4 million for the year ended 31 May
2022.

In view of the relaxation of global epidemic control policies and the
exploration of new business opportunities, the Board is confident that the
business can grow steadily. The Group will continue to strengthen the
management’s governance and explore more business opportunities to
diversify the business for the benefit of our shareholders.

The Board would like to extend its sincere thanks to the shareholders of
the Company and the Group, business partners and customers for their
utmost support to the Group. The Group would also like to take this
opportunity to thank all management members and staff for their hard
work and dedication throughout the years.

Ma Lie
Chairman
Hong Kong, 22 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE D

Business Review

The Group is principally engaged in (1) the provision of visual display
solution services and (2) the provision of information technology
consulting services.

Visual display solutions

During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the Group
was engaged in 154 pop concert shows for Hong Kong and non-Hong
Kong artists/bands (year ended 31 May 2022: 107).

The Group derived approximately 34.3% of its total revenue during the
seven-month period ended 31 December 2022 from pop concerts (year
ended 31 May 2022: 33.7%), the majority of which took place in Hong
Kong and the PRC. The remainder of the Group’s revenue of visual
display solutions business was attributable to other live events, including
corporate events, exhibitions, sports and recreational events and other
live performances, as well as equipment rental.

Information technology consultation

On 18 August 2022, the Group has completed the acquisition of 22.9%
of the then enlarged issued share capital of Shenzhen Xinhang, which is
mainly engaged in the provision of information technology consulting
services in the PRC and has been a subsidiary of the Company.

During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the revenue
of provision of information technology consulting services amounted to
approximately HK$19.5 million (representing 48.4% of the total revenue)
which was mainly contributed by an information technology project of a
customer in the PRC.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the Group
faced the following risks and uncertainties that might have affected the
Group'’s financial condition, results of operations, business and prospects:

Financial risk

The Group's operations are exposed to various types of financial risks
such as foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate
risk. Details of the aforesaid risk factors and the respective risk
management measures are shown in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

Operational risk

The success of the Group’s business is largely attributable to the Group's
ability to keep pace with the latest development of visual display
technology in the market in order to provide feasible and cost-effective
visual display solutions to the Group’s customers. The Group’s executive
directors and senior management are responsible for assessing the
change in market trends and making decisions to invest in suitable visual
display equipment to cope with the latest customer demands and
specifications in a timely and cost-effective manner.

The business opportunities arise from the market demand for new
technologies, with metaverse technologies defined as the next generation
of Internet technologies, covering both the Internet and the real world.
These technologies can be widely used for visual displays with visual
effects to realize extended reality (xR) performances/events and virtual
human performances. Following the investment in Shenzhen Xinhang,
the Group will extend its business into the field of metaverse technology
and explore the application of this technology to its existing video display
business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Cyber risk and security

The Group’s computer equipment and website are exposed to attack,
damage or unauthorized access in this cyber era. Failure to protect the
Group’s computer equipment and website from any unauthorized access
can result in reputational damage, financial loss and disruptions in
operations.

The Group has installed appropriate anti-virus software and internet fire
walls to protect the Group’s computer equipment and website from any
cyber-attacks. Trainings have been provided to the Group’s staff to follow
a security code setting procedures to minimize the likelihood of any
unauthorized access to the Group’s computer equipment.

Data fraud or theft

The Group’s critical information is kept and managed by the Group’s
executive directors and key management. Failure to protect the Group’s
critical information from any data fraud or theft can result in financial loss
and disruptions in operations.

Trainings have been provided to the Group’s executive directors and key
management for keeping and managing the Group’s critical information
to minimize the likelihood of any data fraud or theft.

Environment and social risks

For details of how the Group addresses to its environment and social
risks, where applicable, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 39 to 57 of this annual report.

Market risk

The Group's business performance and financial conditions may be
affected by the state of economy in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau. The
economy of the PRC is susceptible to material fluctuations, volatility,
disruptions or downturn of broader global economic and financial
environment. The Group’s executive directors are responsible for
determining an overall market risk control framework, monitoring and
assessing market conditions and devising refined policies in light of any
adverse factors affecting the Group's performance and market position.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Financial Review

Revenue

The Group generates revenue from providing (i) visual display solutions to
its customers in relation to pop concert shows and various other live
events; (i) information technology consulting services; and (iii) equipment
rental.

The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s revenue by
source of income during the seven-month period ended 31 December
2022 with the comparative figures for the year ended 31 May 2022:

BHEE W Lo (8)

Bt % [ R
i 25

AEBEROAFEPREHRERITZLRERES
RZEEMRGEBAENE KRB RER
FENEMBREBRS  Rii)REHE
EEAWES -

TRENAEBEHEEZE_FT__F+= A
—t+t—HIEEEABHREZEKRAKRIREE S
WaRErRESEE S -_—_FA A =1+—8H
IEFERERET

Seven-month period ended

31 December 2022

Year ended 31 May 2022

BE-ZE—-—
+=BA=+—H” BE_ET—_—
IEEEAHE AA=+—HILEE
% of total % of total
HK$'000 revenue HK$'000 revenue
148U = 1 4B UK 7%
FET Btk FHET Bkt
Visual display solutions REBTBATR 20,354 50.6 19,424 95.5
Information technology BB
consultation 19,466 48.4 — —
Equipment rental REHE 419 1.0 923 4.5
Total At 40,238 100.0 20,347 100.0

During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the Group
principally derived its revenue from the provision of visual display solutions
and the provision of information technology consulting services, which
accounted for 50.6% of the Group's total revenue (year ended 31 May
2022: approximately 95.5%) and 48.4% of the Group's total revenue
respectively (year ended 31 May 2022: Nil). The Group’s revenue
increased by approximately 97.8% from approximately HK$20.4 million
for the year ended 31 May 2022 to approximately HK$40.2 million for
the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Visual display solutions

The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s revenue from
visual display solutions during the seven-month period ended 31
December 2022 with the comparative figures for the year ended 31 May
2022. For the purpose of revenue breakdown presentation, other live
events include corporate events, sports and recreation events, exhibitions
and other live performances.

Seven-month period ended 31 December 2022

BEBETRBRATR

TRHFIAEFBEHEE_E-__F+_-A
=+t—HALEtEAABHEKREEEERER
FRMUEPHERBEE-_ZT=_=_FHA
T+ BLEFEMNREHEFT - REHN W=
BAms  HURSIHEBELEFE - 8
ERAKBEES BEUAREMIBIERE-

Year ended 31 May 2022

BE-BR-_—_Ff+-A=t-HLEtEAHA HE_Z__FAA=T-HLFE

% of total  Average % of total ~ Average

revenue  revenue revenue revenue

from visual per from visual per

No.of Revenue display shows  No.of  Revenue display shows

shows (HK$'000) solutions (HKS$'000)  shows (HK$'000) solutions  (HK$'000)

HREET 8%EL EEEER B%EH

B s BRIRE FYKH & i s BAFTRE FHKE

g8 (FBrn) WHEE2H (FER) gRH (THm) %Kmask (FEx)

Pop concerts mITS4%EEe 154 13,808 67.8 90 107 6,857 35.3 64

Other live events  E £ 3815 &) 876 6,545 322 7 1253 12,567 64.7 10
Total revenue from ?ﬁ@ N ,}&

visual display GES L€
solutions 1,030 20,353 100.0 20 1,360 19,424 100.0 14
The increase in revenue from pop concerts was mainly attributable to KB RITZ A BEESH U IN T EH

effect of (i) the increase in the number of pop concert shows undertaken
by the Group from 107 for the year ended 31 May 2022 to 154 for the
seven-month period ended 31 December 2022; and (i) the increase in the
average revenue per show for pop concerts from approximately
HK$64,000 for the year ended 31 May 2022 to approximately HK$90,000
for the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022.

The decrease in revenue from other live events was mainly attributable to
effect of (i) the decrease in the number of other live events undertaken by
the Group from 1,253 for the year ended 31 May 2022 to 876 for the
seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, and (ii) the decrease in
the average revenue per show for other live events from approximately
HK$10,000 for the year ended 31 May 2022 to HK$7,000 for the seven-
month period ended 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEE WMo (E)

Revenue analysis by geographical location BRiIBEUEE DN WS D

The following table sets out a breakdown of the revenue of the Group T XEFHI AEBHE_ZT__F+ = A
from pop concerts by geographical location during the seven-month =+ — g |F+ {8 B BRI IR IB AL B 25 5
period ended 31 December 2022 with comparative figures for the year TE & EREeNkaxBAREE T -

ended 31 May 2022: FRA=ZT—HALEFENLEHET :
Seven-month period ended 31 December 2022 Year ended 31 May 2022
BE-B--F+-A=Z+-HLtEAHMH BE_Z-__SAA=t-HLFE
% of total ~ Average % of total Average
revenue  revenue revenue revenue
from visual per from visual per
No.of  Revenue display shows  No. of Revenue display shows
shows  (HK$'000) solutions  (HK$'000)  shows  (HK$'000) solutions  (HK$'000)
EREER BHEL EREBRT B5RL

it Wi MARFRL FHKE R Wi BRIRR Yoks
#8 (F#xn) Ww#EEIE (FER) g8 (TEn) kK&EBLHL  (TETL

Pop concerts RS ERE

Hong Kong B 129 10,659 71.2 83 106 6,807 99.0 64
PRC R 15 51 0.4 3 — — — —
Macau R 1 4 0.3 41 1 50 1.0 50
Others Hit 9 3,057 221 340 — — — —
Total revenue from  RTE 4 BB €4

pop concerts W & 154 13,808 100.0 920 107 6,857 100.0 64
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

The following table sets out a breakdown of the revenue of the Group T X &I AEBEEZ T _-__F+_ A
from other live events by geographical location during the seven-month =+ —H |F+ @ A BRI B AL B 2 H H
period ended 31 December 2022 with comparative figures for the year IS EFHOWRBANEE T - =

ended 31 May 2022: EFA=+—"BLEFENLBREAF:
Seven-month period ended 31 December 2022 Year ended 31 May 2022
BE-E-__F+-A=+-HLtEAHM HE-S-_—FRA=+-ALFE
% of total ~ Average % of total
revenue  revenue revenue Average
from visual per from visual  revenue per
No.of  Revenue display show  No. of Revenue display show
shows  (HK$'000) solutions  (HK$'000)  shows  (HK$'000) solutions  (HK$'000)
EREER B5EAL HREBT B5RL

E i Wi BRFRL FHKE R Wi BARIRE Yioka
BB (FEx) w#EFsk (FEx) &B (FExn) K#&EHHL (TR

Other live events E #3385 &

Hong Kong &b 717 5,817 88.8 8 1,167 7113 56.6 6
PRC ] 120 510 7.8 4 59 1,738 138 29
Macau ! 38 154 2.4 4 27 3,716 29.6 138
Others Hit 1 64 1.0 64 — — = —

Total revenue from  E 4138 35 & &
other live events #2125 876 6,545 100.0 7 1,253 12,567 100.0 10

Information technology consultation BRI EH

During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the revenue #HE—_Z-_—F+_-_HA=+—HI1t+t@A
of provision of information technology consulting services amounted to  Hiff ' IR BRI ZHARB O W I D &
approximately HK$19.5 million (representing 48.4% of the total revenue)  19.5 5 & 7T ({5 42 WK 25 H948.4%) + £ B3R
which was mainly contributed by an information technology project of a B —ZFBZFHMAFARIFIER -

customer in the PRC.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Cost of services

The cost of services of the Group mainly include depreciation of property,
plant and equipment, direct labour costs, subcontracting charges, freight
and logistics expenses, cost of equipment and spareparts and rental
expenses related to lease of equipment. The Group’s cost of services
decreased by approximately 8.1% from approximately HK$31.8 million
for the year ended 31 May 2022 to approximately HK$29.2 million for
the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022. Such decrease was
mainly due to the decrease of depreciation of property, plant and
equipment as a shorter accounting period is used for the current period
compared with last period.

Gross profit/(loss) and gross profit/(loss) margin

The gross profit of the Group for the seven-month period ended 31
December 2022 amounted to approximately HK$11.0 million (year ended
31 May 2022: gross loss of approximately HK$11.5 million), representing
a gross profit margin of approximately 27.3% (year ended 31 May 2022:
gross loss margin of approximately 56.5%). The change from the gross
loss margin to gross profit margin was mainly attributable to the increase
in revenue.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group mainly include administrative
staff costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets, rental expenses of
short-term leases in respect of rental premises and others. The Group's
administrative expenses increased by approximately 4.2% from
approximately HK$14.4 million for the year ended 31 May 2022 to
approximately HK$15.0 million for the seven-month period ended 31
December 2022. Such increase was mainly due to administrative expenses
incurred for information technology consulting business since 18 August
2022.

Finance costs, net

The finance cost, net of the Group mainly consists of interests on bank
borrowings which were all repayable within five years, interest expenses
on obligations under finance lease and interest on lease liabilities. The
Group's finance costs decrease by approximately 42.7% from HK$0.6
million for the year ended 31 May 2022 to approximately HK$0.4 million
for the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022 which was mainly
due to shorter accounting period of current period compared with last
period.

Income tax expense

The Group is subject to income tax on an enterprise basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the Group
are domiciled and operate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022 and the year
ended 31 May 2022, all PRC subsidiaries of the Company were subject to
the PRC Enterprise Income Tax at the rate of 25.0%.

Pursuant to the current two-tier profit tax rates, the Group’ s first HK$2
million of assessable profits under Hong Kong profits tax for the seven-
month period ended 31 December 2022 is subject to a tax rate of 8.25%,
while the remaining assessable profits are subject to a tax rate of 16.5%.
During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, no Hong
Kong profits tax has been provided for as the Group did not generate any
estimated assessable profit (year ended 31 May 2022: same).

The Macau subsidiary of the Company was subject to Macau
complementary tax at the rate of 12.0% on the estimated assessable
income exceeding MOP600,000 during the seven-month period ended
31 December 2022 and the year ended 31 May 2022.

Our income tax expenses changed from approximately HK$0.6 million of
income tax credit for the year ended 31 May 2022 to approximately
HK$0.1 million of income tax expense for the seven-month period ended
31 December 2022.

Profit/(Loss) for the period

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit was approximately
HK$7.5 million for the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, as
compared with a loss of approximately HK$24.4 million for the year
ended 31 May 2022. The profit was mainly due to the gain on bargain
purchases amounted to approximately HK$11.8 million for the seven-
month period ended 31 December 2022.

Excluding the gain on bargain purchases, the Group incurred the loss for
the period amounted to approximately HK$4.3 million. The main reason
for the loss is because the revenue for the seven-month period ended 31
December 2022, which increased by HK$19.9 million as compared to that
of the year ended 31 May 2022, was insufficient to cover the relatively
high cost of services and administrative expenses (including the high
equipment depreciation cost).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Business Update

The business of the Group improved significantly yet remained affected
by the pandemic during the seven-month period ended 31 December
2022. The outbreak of COVID-19 has adversely affected our business and
our industry. Shows and events were forced to be postponed, rescheduled
or even cancelled due to various epidemic prevention measures, such as
social distancing order and quarantine order imposed by the government,
global travel restriction, closure of venues, etc, imposed by local
governments globally. The Group has tried to lower the Company’s
administrative expenses by minimizing the cost of operation, such as no-
pay leave for operating staffs in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC and
making rent reduction request to all landlords.

In addition to fighting for survival, in order to overcome the impact of
COVID-19 and other possible pandemic viruses in the future, the Group
has been actively seeking potential business opportunities and seeking to
apply the Group'’s video display solutions to industries other than the live
event industry and to expand the Company’ s opportunities in upstream
and downstream related business in order to broaden the Group’s
revenue stream and enhance shareholder value. During the shutdown of
the concert and show industry, the Group’s live event business was
significantly impacted. In order to mitigate the adverse impact resulted
from having single source of revenue, the Group has sought a new
business concept of utilizing the existing video display equipment and
introducing it to the television/film industry as well as introducing the
application of new technologies.

On 18 August 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of 22.9%
issued share capital of Shenzhen Xinhang, after which the Group will
extend its business into the field of metaverse technology and explore the
application of this technology to its existing video display business.

The management believes that our business will return to the right track
as COVID-19 gradually subsides, and may even experience explosive
growth in the near future when the COVID-19 outbreak is over.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Financial Resources, Liquidity and Capital Structure

The Group finances its operations primarily through cash generated from
operating activities and interest-bearing bank borrowing, overdrafts and
finance leases. The Group recorded net current assets of approximately
HK$120.6 million as at 31 December 2022 (31 May 2022: net current
liabilities of approximately HK$26.4 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's current ratio was approximately 2.14
(31 May 2022: approximately 0.32) and the Group’s gearing ratio
calculated based on the total debt (including shareholder’s loans) at the
end of the period divided by total equity at the end of the period was
approximately 23.5% (31 May 2022: approximately 47.1%). The decrease
of the Group’s gearing ratio in the seven-month period ended 31
December 2022 was mainly due to the increase in total equity.

As at 31 December 2022, the maximum limit of the banking facilities
available to the Group amounted to HK$13 million (31 May 2022: 13
million). The bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
repayable within one year or on demand and interest-bearing at floating
rates from 3.4% to 6.6% per annum (31 May 2022: 2.8% to 4.2% per
annum).

As at 31 December 2022, the capital structure of the Group consisted of
equity attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$50.6
million, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange

on 14 June 2017. There has been no change in the capital structure of
the Group since then.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Foreign Currency Exposure Risks

The Group operates mainly in the PRC and Hong Kong and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to certain purchases with United States dollars (“US$”) and
Macau Patacas (“MOP”). Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities are denominated
in a currency that is not the group entities’ functional currency. The
Group however did not engage in any derivatives agreements and did not
commit to any financial instrument to hedge its foreign exchange
exposure during the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022.

Treasury Policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022.
The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing
credit assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers.
To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group'’s liquidity
position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets,
liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding requirements from
time to time.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

The Group accounted for equity investments at fair values through other
comprehensive income at their respective fair values. As at 31 December
2022, the fair value of our unlisted investments classified as equity
investments at fair values through other comprehensive income
amounted to approximately HK$33.5 million (31 May 2022: Nil). These
equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
included in an unlisted equity security, which is represented by the equity
investments in Guangdong Shango Smart Technology Group Co., Ltd. (&
RAHBEEREREBBRAR).

The Group considers that, none of the other unlisted and listed
investments classified as equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income in an investment portfolio is a significant
investment as none of such investments has a carrying amount that
accounts for more than 5.0% of our total assets as at 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals Of Subsidiaries

On 18 August 2022, the Group has completed the acquisition of 22.9%
of the then enlarged issued share capital of Shenzhen Xinhang, which is
mainly engaged in the provision of information technology consulting
services in the PRC. As the Group has control over the board of directors
of Shenzhen Xinhang, the financial results of Shenzhen Xinhang were
consolidated to the Group’s consolidated results for the seven-month
period ended 31 December 2022 since 18 August 2022.

Save as disclosed above, during the seven-month period ended 31
December 2022, the Group did not have any significant investments,
material acquisitions nor disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Capital Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material capital
commitments or any material contingent liabilities.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the seven-
month period ended 31 December 2022.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any pledged short-term

bank deposits as security for the Group’s banking facilities (31 May 2022:
Nil).
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is committed to establish and ensuring high standards of
corporate governance and adopt sound corporate governance practices.
The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors
strongly believe that reasonable and sound corporate governance
practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding
and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

The Company has complied with all code provisions under the CG Code
throughout the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022. The
Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

Board of Directors

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the Group’s
overall strategies, the setting of management targets and supervision of
management performance. The management is delegated with the
authority and responsibility by the Board for the management and
administration of the Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated
various responsibilities to the Board committees of the Company. Further
details of the Board committees are set out below in this report.

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting the
success of the Company by the direction and supervision of the
Company'’s business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for day-to-
day management of the Company which is delegated to the
management. To this end, monthly financial and operational information
are provided to the Board for assessing the performance of the Company
and its subsidiaries. For significant matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board, the management must report back to and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company. The management is responsible
for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group and to
provide the Board with updates in a timely manner, giving an assessment
of the Company’s performance and position to enable the Board to
discharge its duties.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TrERERWmE (B

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the corporate EEZ=& B (HHhBRF)BITLEE 8 TH
governance duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, SFEIEXEA2NEMBM X EABE
which include: BIE

(@) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on (a) HIERBANEBNDCEEARER
corporate governance and make recommendations; B WREEE

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional (b) KB REREERSHETEEEY
development of the Directors and senior management; REBEERER:

(© to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on (¢) BT NERAKEBFTETEEZNES
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; MEFEBRE LT R

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and (d) #IE BT LEREARESELES
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and RSP EARERFM(E) &
employees; and

(e) to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure  (e) 1% & 7 & @) 3% 7 1> 2 &34 <7 B M9 1537
in the corporate governance report. DELCEERREANNEE -
Board Composition EEgAR

The Board comprises nine Directors, four of whom are executive Directors ZE&@ R WL EEHHEK - HP B E N L H
and the other five are independent non-executive Directors. Details of {72 ERHEM AL BIIERTEE - HZ

their composition by category are as follows: RRERNE D 2 AKFIBNT :
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Ma Lie (Chairman) BREE(FE)

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (Chief executive officer) 1505 5L 58 & (TTI AR #)
Mr. Tam Chun Yu BEFLA

Ms. Zhang Yan Ling ok Wk 3% 2+
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHITES

Mr. Ji Gui Bao HEESLE

Mr. Cui Hai Bin ERBRE

Mr. Chen Yue FeR 88 % A

Ms. Jiang Yu E ZRWa+

Mr. Li Xiao Hua FREESLL
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or substantive
experience and industry knowledge. The Board as a whole has an
appropriate balance of skills and experience. The composition of the
Board satisfies the requirements of Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules. There are five independent non-executive Directors and at
least one of them has accounting professional qualification. With more
than one-third of the members of the Board are independent non-
executive Directors, the Board has a fairly strong independence element
in terms of its composition.

The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the Board
brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent judgment on
issues relating to the Group’s strategies, performance, conflicts of
interests and management process to ensure that the interests of all
shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 76 to 81 of this annual
report. There are no family or other material relationships among
members of the Board.

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”), on 19 May 2017 with delegated powers for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of the committees of
the Company has been established with written terms of reference.

The Board conducts at least four regular meetings a year. The Directors
can attend meetings in person or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Company’s articles of association
(the “Articles”). The chairman of the Board also meets with the
independent non-executive Directors at least once a year without the
presence of the executive Directors. Notices and agendas of regular Board
meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before convening the
Board meeting. For all other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. All other schedules and the relevant information
of each Board and committee meeting are generally made available to
Directors or committee members at least three days in advance. The
Board and each Director also have separate and independent access to
the management whenever necessary.
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rEER®RE(E

I\‘/ ~

During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the Company
held eight Board meetings, three Audit Committee meetings, two
Remuneration Committee meetings, two Nomination Committee
meetings and two independent board committee meetings. All minutes
of the Board meetings and meetings of Board committees were recorded
in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and the decisions
reached. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows:

BE_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HItt@A

BS@F?'$’A‘TE§E%??/\}/’Q%$Q§E§ =R
ERZZBEEgE MAFMEEEEZ W
mh%iﬁ@@%&ﬁwﬁ¢%$§ﬁa
em-EFcemiESZBRELAE

HRs DHEFEMERFERERZ
REERAFMZ sk EFEFEBRF
CEUNNE

Attendance/Number of meetings

HERE GEBTAY
Independent
Board board
Meeting Audit Remuneration Nomination General committee
(Note 1)  Committee Committee  Committee meeting Meeting
Ezeel BUES
Name of Directors EEHA (K&E1) BRZESE FMESEe REZEE BRRAE ZEE8E
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. Ma Lie BRlxE 7/8 — — — — —
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis 15 & 3 %t & 8/8 — — 2/2 171 —
Mr. Tam Chun Yu EEFLE 4/8 — — — 171 —
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling REEKL L
(appointed on (BT
22 November 2022) +—A=-+=H
BEE) 2/2 — =S == e ==
Independent Non-executive BV FHTES :
Directors:
Mr. Chen Yue R i 5 A 8/8 3/3 2/2 212 11 2/2
Mr. Cui Hai Bin EBELE 8/8 3/3 2/2 2/2 11 2/2
Mr. Ji Gui Bao HWEBRSE 8/8 3/3 2/2 2/2 11 2/2
Ms. Jiang Yu E EZEHLL 8/8 3/3 212 2/2 11 2/2
Mr. Li Xiao Hua FHRELLE
(appointed on (R=—Z=_—=—F
22 November 2022) +—A=+=H
BZEAE) 172 - " o i —
Note 1: Include a Board meeting where the chairman met non-executive and independent MizX1: B AT ERIERNTEER B IIENTES
non-executive Directors in the absence of the executive Directors and management. CeEHNESCLH(FTESREEEBTE L
&) o
The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) ARAGARWME((ARIME)EET A
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters arising from fFErFrEFe ez UWHEEBLEET S
corporate governance, risk management, statutory compliance, RE[EEIE - AflES €t LB EIED
accounting and finance. ==
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Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally made available
to Directors in advance. At least 14 days' notice should be given for a
regular Board meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters
considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company Secretary
at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting
and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of
the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles provide that at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company. The appointment letter of each of
the independent non-executive Directors is for a term of three years,
which may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing
served by either party on the other. The aforesaid appointment letters are
subject to termination provisions therein and the retirement and re-
election provisions in the Articles. Details of the appointment letters are
summarised in the Report of the Board of Directors on page 58 of this
annual report.
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Directors’ Continuous Training and Professional
Development

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Up to the
date of this report, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending training courses or reading
relevant materials on the topics related to corporate governance and
regulations. Records of the training received by the respective Directors
are kept and updated by the Company Secretary.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are experienced professionals
with expertise in respective areas of accounting, finance, industry
knowledge and expertise. With their professional knowledge and
experience, the independent non-executive Directors serve an important
function of advising the senior management on strategy development
and ensure that the Board maintains high standards in financial and other
mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate checks and balances
for safeguarding the interests of the shareholders and the Company as a
whole; and independent non-executive Directors will participate in the
Company’s various committees including the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors the written confirmation of his/her independence. The Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Chairman and Executive Directors

The chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board and is also
responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practice and is responsible for the overall
corporate management of the business development strategies of the
Group. The executive Directors are responsible for the implementation of
the business strategies, policies and objectives set out by the Board and is
accountable to the Board for the overall operations of the Group. These
functions and responsibilities are currently being shared by the
management team.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Board Committee

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 19 May 2017 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The full terms of reference setting out details of the
authority, duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available
on both the GEM website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises five independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Ji Gui Bao, Mr. Cui Hai Bin, Mr. Chen Yue, Ms.
Jiang Yu E and Mr. Li Xiao Hua. Mr. Ji Gui Bao is the chairman of the
Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the policies of
the Group and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by
the Board. The full terms of reference setting out details of duties of the
Audit Committee is available on both the GEM website and the
Company'’s website.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditor, Zhonghui Anda CPA
Limited (“Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited”), and recommended the Board
to re-appoint Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited as the Company’s auditors for
the financial year ending 31 December 2023, which is subject to the
approval of shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for
the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held at least four times a year and the external
auditor may request a meeting if they consider it necessary.

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and Directors’
attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of Meetings and
Directors’ Attendance” on pages 21 to 22 of this annual report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee in compliance
with Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules, which comprises five
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cui Hai Bin, Mr. Ji Gui
Bao, Mr. Chen Yue, Ms. Jiang Yu E and Mr. Li Xiao Hua. Mr. Cui Hai Bin
is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but without
limitation): (a) making recommendations to the Directors regarding the
policy and structure for the remuneration of all the Directors and senior
management of the Group and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (b) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Group; (c) reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and (d) considering and
approving the grant of share options to eligible participants pursuant to
the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the sole shareholder of
the Company on 19 May 2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The full
terms of reference setting out details of duties of the Remuneration
Committee is available on both the GEM website and the Company’s
website.

The Remuneration Committee has sufficient resources to perform its
duties properly. For the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022,
the members of the Remuneration Committee have reviewed the 2021
annual remuneration plan and the 2022 annual remuneration framework
for each Director and key management personnel (including senior
management) of the Group.

Directors’ remuneration by reference to the benchmarking of the market.
The Remuneration Committee also looked into individual Director’s
competence, duties, responsibilities, performance and the results of the
Group in determining the exact level of remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year.

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 21 to 22 of this annual
report.
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Senior Management’s remuneration

Senior Management'’s remuneration payment of the Group for the seven-
month period ended 31 December 2022 falls within the following band:

EERRE (B)

= &% B E B 1 5

BE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HLt@EA
HE AEBESREEEN TS MHENU
TEERA :

Number of
individuals
HK$ 7B T A
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 0% 1,000,000/ 7T 5

Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior
management was based on their experience, level of responsibility and
general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit
payments are linked to the performance of the Group and the individual
performance of the Directors and senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises two executive Directors, namely
Mr. Ma Lie, and Ms. Zhang Yan Ling and five independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cui Hai Bin, Mr. Ji Gui Bao, Mr. Chen Yue, Ms.
Jiang Yu E and Mr. Li Xiao Hua. Mr. Ma Lie is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on regular basis; identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The full terms of reference
setting out details of the authority, duties and responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee is available on both the GEM website and the
Company'’s website.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
meeting can be called by the member of the Nomination Committee any
time when it is necessary.
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Nomination Procedures:

N

The secretary should give the Nomination Committee members a
membership list, listing out the current board members’ name,
position & duties at the organization.

Each year, the Nomination Committee evaluates the current board
members to assess whether they are performing satisfactorily and
should be considered for re-election. Evaluations may be performed
by a subset of the Nomination Committee or an independent third
party to ensure the fairness.

Next step is to receive recommendations for new board members
from management or current board members. The Nomination
Committee should review the resumes of potential candidates,
assessing their skills and experience to determine if they meet
qualifications for the position. In reviewing candidate profiles, the
committee should also consider criteria that includes:

o Proven leadership

° Previous board experience

° Knowledge and experience

. Diversity — including age, gender, ethnicity, race, disabilities,
geography

° Experience with large and complex organization

o Skillset — including finance, legal, auditing, government
affairs, public relations, community experience, and
knowledge of the organizations

o In case of nomination for independent non-executive
directors, should consider why the candidate to be
independent (should refer to relevant Listing Rules for
independence)

Provide a list of candidates to the full committee for discussion and
review.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

5.  The committee then contacts each candidate to make an
assessment for a high level of personal and professional integrity, as
well as to assess their level of commitment to the organization, and
availability. This is often done by assigning one member of the
Nomination Committee to one candidate, who will bring a
candidate summary with recommendations back to the full
committee. Additional interviews by the Nomination committee and
the chief executive officer may be necessary to ensure due diligence
interviews may be conducted with the assistance of a third party.

6.  The committee forms a final slate of recommended candidates to
the full board for formal approval. Nominees should not be present
at this meeting to allow for open discussion by the board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the Board diversity policy as well as
discussing matters regarding the retirement and re-election of Directors.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors’ attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 21 to 22 of this annual
report.

Accountability and Audit

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the
consolidated financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for ensuring
that the Group's consolidated financial statements for each financial year
are prepared to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, the
financial results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”) and the applicable
accounting standards. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the Board has
adopted appropriate and consistent accounting policies and made
prudent, fair and reasonable judgments and estimates. The Directors are
responsible for maintaining proper accounting records which reflect with
reasonable accuracy the state of affairs, operating results, cash flows and
equity movement of the Group at any time. The Directors confirm that
the preparation of the financial statements of the Group is in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
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The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern are
disclosed in note 2.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities. The statement of auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor, are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 82 to 86 of this annual report.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the
auditor to the Group during the seven-month period ended 31 December

EEZTHER RESEEL —UEEEHN
BETA - FIBERAE BEREEASER
BEEENEBREREBNESHRBRDY
ERTEEMURARF RIS M RE M &
21148 -

EXRERIMAFEVESRARBAE
B 8 B - DA K S M (R R RGE R B A&
RIOR - BARBMYEGEPBHRRNE
BERTHEAFRNBLZBERS

ARARZEBAMMERETHNAFHRES2
£86 HM B IZ BRI RE -

BB B &

BE_ZT_—_F+_A=+—HLELEMEA
M ZEAR R AEBREES IR

2022 was approximately as follow: SHIREHB S KRBT :
Amount
Type of services PR 7 $8 8L |
HK$
BT
Audit services EET R 720,000
Non-audit services (Review financial report) FEFBARG (EFTBERE) 130,000
Total #Et 850,000

Corporate Governance Functions

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board
is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions such as
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional development of the
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors review the Group’s corporate governance policies and
compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply with the
“comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance report which is
or will be included in the annual reports of the Company.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy in accordance with the
requirement as set out in the CG Code, which is summarised as below:

The Board diversity policy of the Company specifies that in designing the
composition the Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. Selection of candidates
for the Board will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, culture, ethnicity and educational
background, professional experience, knowledge and skills.

The Company discloses the composition of the Board in corporate
governance report every year and the Nomination Committee oversees
the implementation of the Board diversity policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, four of which are executive
Directors and five of which are independent non-executive Directors. Two
out of these nine Directors are females. The Board considers its diversity
of gender is appropriate and no additional measurable objective is
necessary in this respect.

The Board has an appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity that
are relevant to the Company’s strategy governance and business. Mr. Ma
Lie and Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis are responsible for the day-to-day
management and strategic development of the Group. Mr. Tam Chun Yu
is responsible for planning, organising, coordinating and implementing
visual display solutions of the Group. Ms. Zhang Yan Ling, Mr. Cui Hai Bin
and Mr. Chen Yue are responsible for the legal and regulatory matters
and risk management of the Group. Mr. Ji Gui Bao and Ms. Jiang Yu E
are accounting professionals with financial management expertise. Mr. Li
Xiao Hua, together with other independent non-executive Directors, is
responsible for providing independent advice to the Board.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018 which
sets out the principles and measures on how the Company may propose
a dividend.
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The Board will account for the following factors when considering the
payment of dividends:

a.  The general financial condition of the Group;

b.  The actual and future operations and liquidity positions of the
Group;

c.  The future cash requirements and availability;

d.  Any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group's lenders;

e. The general market conditions; and

—h

Any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Any declaration and payment of future dividends under the dividend
policy will be subject to the Board’s determination that the same would
be in the best interests of the Group and the shareholders of the
Company as a whole. In addition, the declaration and payment of
dividends may be subject to legal restrictions or any applicable laws, rules
and regulations and the Articles.

Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”) regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having made
specific enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have complied with
the Code of Conduct throughout the seven-month period ended 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or other
general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and encourage
their participation.

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for separate
issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions put forward at
shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
shareholder meeting.
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During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the Company
considered the communication policy implemented was effective as it
helps to promote the Company’s business development effectively and
efficiently.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant information on
the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory
requirements.

General Meetings with Shareholders

The Company'’s forthcoming annual general meeting will be held on 20
June 2023.

Shareholders’ Rights

(a) Convening of an extraordinary general meeting
on requisition by shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company. Shareholders also have the right to propose a person for
election as a Director, the procedures are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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(b) Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to the
operations and management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall be sent to the Company
Secretary by a written requisition. Shareholders who wish to put
forward a proposal should convene an extraordinary general
meeting by following the procedures set out in “Convening of an
extraordinary general meeting on requisition by shareholders”
above.

(c) Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the extent
such information is publicly available to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for forwarding communications relating to
matters within the Board’s purview to the executive Directors,
communications relating to matters within a Board committee’s
area of responsibility to the chairman of the appropriate committee,
and communication relating to ordinary business matters, such as
suggestions, inquiries and consumer complaints, to the appropriate
management of the Company, in writing to the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong.

Investor Relations

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a
key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open
and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and
investment public. The Company updates its shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its annual,
interim and quarterly reports. The website of the Company (http://www.
intechproductions.com) has provided an effective communication
platform to the public and the shareholders.
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Company Secretary

The Company engages an external service provider, Ms. Leung Yin Fai, as
its Company Secretary.

Ms. Leung Yin Fai is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and ensuring compliance with the Board policy and
procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to
ensure that the Board procedures and all applicable laws are followed.
Moreover, the Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating
communications among Directors as well as with management.

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, an executive Director and chief executive
officer of the Company, is the primary contact person whom Ms. Leung
Yin Fai can contact.

During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the Company
Secretary has undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional
training in compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The Group’s systems of risk management and internal
control include a defined management structure with limits of authority,
which is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure
in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.
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An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established. The
division/department head of each core operating division/department is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such division/
department within the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and
the Board together, and reports directly to the Board.

In the course of conducting the business, the Group is exposed to various
types of risks. During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022,
the following principal risks of the Group were identified and classified
into strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas Principal Risks
[ e 9B 35 FTERRE
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Strategic Risks
competition risk, reputation risk

B S [

Operational Risks
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Financial Risks
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Compliance Risks
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Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new technologies and customers’ taste; market

BERAR

Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, inflation risk

- AR R

Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances related to

employment; change of listing rules and relevant company regulations and ordinances

BHRRR HERXZENEEARORAR

R AR B E BX

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the Group
and it has delegated to executive management to carry out the risk
identification and monitoring procedures. The objectives of the risk
management are to enhance the governance and corporate management
processes as well as to safeguard the Group against unacceptable levels
of risks and losses.

The risk management process of the Group will involve, among others, (i)
an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which involves
assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and the
development of risk management plans for mitigating such risks; and (ii)
an annual review of the implementation of the risk management plans
and fine tuning of the implementation plan when necessary.
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During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the Board,
through the Audit Committee, has conducted review of both design and
implementation effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, covering all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee
communicates any material issues to the Board. The Board is of the view
that the existing risk management and internal control system is
sufficient, effective and adequate.

The Company has hired an internal audit manager to review the Group's
system of internal controls and risk management annually and further
enhance the Group's internal control and risk management systems as
appropriate.

Code of Conduct and Handling of Inside
Information

The Group places utmost importance on the ethical, personal and
professional standards of the Directors and employees of the Group. In
addition to the various policies adopted and implemented by the Group
imposing certain conduct requirements on Directors and employees, every
employee is required to undertake to adhere to the Group’s Code of
Conduct, and is expected to achieve the highest standards of behavior
including avoiding conflict of interest, discrimination or harassment and
bribery and corruption. Employees are required to report any
non-compliance with the Code of Conduct to management.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"”) and the GEM
Listing Rules, the Group has an obligation to disclose any inside
information as soon as reasonably practicable after such information has
come to the knowledge of the Board. The Company has developed its
disclosure policy which provides a general guide to the Company’s
directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees in
handling confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to
ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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In addition, if there occurs any significant risk events, the Group will
report such risk events to the relevant authorities so that appropriate
decisions and measures can be made by the Group in a timely manner to
deal with such risk events.

Constitutional Documents

During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the Company
proposed to make certain amendments to the amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company. The
amendments were considered and approved by shareholders at the
annual general meeting on 8 November 2022. The second amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company have
been published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Looking Forward
The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standards on
a timely basis and the Board endeavours to take the necessary actions to

ensure compliance with the required practices and standards including
the provisions of the CG Code.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

About This Report

Purpose and Objectives

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (“ESG
Report”) aims to give the Group’s stakeholders a better understanding
of its visions, strategies and implementation of sustainability initiatives
that be of interest to its various stakeholders.

Reporting Period and Scope

The reporting period for this ESG report is from 1 June 2022 to 31
December 2022, and the scope of this ESG Report covers the businesses
in Hong Kong, Macau, and the PRC for the reporting period.

Reporting Standard

The report was prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social,
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) as set out in Appendix
20 of the GEM Listing Rules with contents that comply with the disclosure
requirements and principles under the Guide.

Reporting Principles

The Report is prepared and presented based on the following reporting
principles:

o Materiality: Key ESG issues of the Group were identified through
materiality assessment and stakeholder engagement, which has
been disclosed in the ESG Report.

° Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and source of conversion
factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy consumption
(where applicable) has been disclosed in the ESG Report.

o Balanced: The ESG Report has provided an unbiased picture of the
Group's performance and has not avoided any selections, omissions
or presentation formats that may inappropriately influence a
decision or judgment by the readers.
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RIE g kEams (8)

o Consistency: The ESG Report should present information on a
consistent basis that stakeholders can analyze and evaluate changes
in performance over time. The Group will disclose if there are any
changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant factors
affecting a meaning comparison in its subsequent Report.

Approval

To the best of knowledge, belief and information of the board of
directors of the Company (the “Board”), the Report addresses all relevant
material issues and fairly presents the ESG performance of the Group. The
Board confirms that it has reviewed and approved the Report.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group strives to maintain supporting and trusting relationships with
its stakeholders. Through diversified communication channels, the Group
can effectively understand and respond to the expectations and
requirements of different stakeholders. The following table summarises
the main expectations and concerns of our key stakeholders and the
corresponding management responses.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Environmental Protection

The Group attaches great importance to environmental protection and
also implements sustainable initiatives in areas such as energy saving,
water saving, waste management, air quality management into its daily
operations so as to minimize the use of resources and reduce various
emissions. The Group complied with applicable laws and regulations,
including the Environmental Protection Law of PRC and Guideline on the
Applicability of the Noise Control Ordinance in Hong Kong.

Emissions

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

The Group is principally engaged in providing visual display solution
and information technology consulting services, we consume
limited natural resources to operate and therefore have a relatively
low environmental impact, furthermore, the Group does not
produce a significant volume of hazardous waste from the daily
business process. The major wastes are solid non-hazardous wastes
such as office paper generated from the Group’s operations.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group implemented a number of measures to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions in order to alleviate the impacts to the
environment. The Group also encourages employees to maximize
the use of electronic communication and carry out general
discussions and communication through long-distance telephone
calls or other online communication tools in order to reduce non-
essential business trips and avoid increasing the pollutants emitted
by the use of transportation.

The major sources of air and greenhouse gas (GHG) emission that
the Group associated are energy consumptions in regard to the
purchased electricity used in the Group’s offices and daily operation.

The total GHG generated by the Group during the reported period
ended 31 December 2022 were 48,940 Kg CO,-eq, comprising
direct emission from motor vehicle gasoline, indirect emission from
purchased electricity and other indirect emission from fresh water
usage.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R g kERWmE (&)

Use of Resource

The Group is committed to conserving resources for the purposes
of protecting the environment and enhancing operation efficiency.
To pursue the Group’s commitment of environmental protection,
the Group has implemented multiple measures in enhancing energy
efficiency, minimizing the use of paper, reducing water and energy
consumption and driving behavioural changes of employees.
Through active monitoring and managing the use of resources, the
Group aims to reduce the Group's operating costs as well as our
carbon footprint.

The following procedures and operation guideline were designed to
conserve resources:

Energy

° Room lights and air conditioners must be switched off when
they are not in use.

o Use of natural light is maximized as far as practical.

° Use separate light switches for different light zones.

° Air-conditioner filter and fan coil are cleaned regularly.

Water
° Water taps are constantly checked to avoid the water dipping.

o Leakage tests on concealing piping and checking for
overflowing tanks are regularly carried out.

Other Office Consumable
° Stationeries are distributed on a needed basis and reusable
stationeries are employed.

o Other than formal documents, paperless working environment
is promoted in the Group.

° Recycled papers are encouraged to be used whenever possible
when photocopy for internal documentation.

o Used ink cartridges are either recycled through public recycle
bin or collected by suppliers.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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The Environmental and Natural Resources RERAAER

e The nature of the Group's business does not involve in any s AEEXBUMERNSIRERER
significant impacts on the environmental and natural AREREEFWNERTE -&F
resources. The relevant principles and policies on managing BHREERERMNEERD &
emission and use of resources are already disclosed above. BERERN EXHIHEE -

lll. Environmental Performance Indicator n. REBEERIEE

In accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out by the Stock REBITAERE e RE AR

Exchange, the data of the “Emission” and “Use of Resource” of the LSS AEBRHEEBABEOE K

Group during the reporting period as follows. MIRIERERIBEOT o

Emission Ez 387

Seven-month
period ended

31 December Year ended
Energy use and emission BEREAREER  Units 2022 31 May 2022
BZE HZE
—=E=-= ===
+t=ZA=+—HB HA=+—H
B @A HE IEFE
Electricity E5a| kWh 39,960 9,416
F R B
Intensity of energy LR E kWh/employee 465 200
TR&E &8
Motor Vehicle Gasoline A E A L 3,618 5,422
ﬂ
Intensity of energy RERZE /employee 42 115
RS
GHG BER e Kg CO-eq 48,940 43,109
FTR_GEIRES
Intensity of GHG BERBTE Kg CO,-eg/employee 569 912
FTr_StiREE
=
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Use of Resource

BIREM

Seven-month
period ended

Social

31 December Year ended
Resource use BEREA Units 2022 31 May 2022
Bz HZE
—E-= S===
+=—A=+—8A HA=+—H
B It {EAHE IEFE
Water K m’ 347 78
377K
Intensity of water consumption F7K % & m’/employee 4.03 1.66
SFHKREE
=
=
Employment and Labour Practice EBREREIESR

The Group recognizes the Group’s success and market leadership
are closely linked to the support from our dedicated, hard-working
and task-oriented employees. The Groups recognizes that
employees are the Group’s most valuable assets and vital to
achieving the Group's sustainability and long-term growth.

The Group strictly abide by all applicable laws and regulations in
locations where it operates, including but not limited to the “Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law on Protection of
Minors of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law of Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of
China” and Employment Ordinance (Cap 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). We forbade all kinds of non-compliance employment, forced
labour and child labour. During the reporting period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-compliance concerning
employment-related laws and regulations in all area of operation.

The Group is also committed to safeguarding the legitimate rights
and interests of employees, maintaining their physical and mental
health and providing various benefit, in addition to providing vast
opportunities of career development for every employee, striving to
match employee’s personal and business development goals of the
Group through a comprehensive training system, effective incentive
mechanism and fair competition platform, so that the mutual
benefits for employees and the enterprise can be achieved.

AEERR NEEWKY ETHER
S EEMEENER  FEHTHE
REBELLKTHIKEZRE - X
SERS EENASEREENE
E UAKERERRBRERERE
& o

AEEBRBTEEMERLNABE

RAERMER  BRETRR(FEA
RAMBEEHARE) (PEARHK
MEBEE) (PEARKMBERK
FAREER) (PEARKMBEBRE
w08 R RCR R F O (FEEH S
S7R) - RMELEEERER  BE
BIRET -RHEHE AEEL
THERFFELERBEEMNEREERE
RERBRAEEZFZERNER

AEBTHRAORBE IO ERER
HEETITWNSLRE RESER
M-RAKASE-—E TRHEEMOE
XERKE BBTEMNEIEBR.
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HEBTEARAEEEXRERBR
MEER BERETHEAERME KR -
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Employment Practice

The Group is committed to build a harmonious working atmosphere
for employees through encouraging mutual respect which
ultimately promotes work creativity, flexibility and commitment.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 86 (31 May 2022: 45)
employees. In order to cope with the continuously growing of
business scale, the Group acquires talents from different aspects
and backgrounds to join the Group’s globalized team. The Group
strictly complies with the relevant laws and regulations in the
Group’s employment process, such as recruitment, dismissal,
promotion and setting up of remuneration packages of employees
regardless of where the Group operates. The legitimate rights and
interests of employees are protected in accordance with laws and
regulations.

BEER

AEEF IR EBZBEEEE B
BEZEMBETHERE RN LR
= IERIEN - BIRIE R RS -

R-_ZFE-_—F+=-_A=+—8'4%&&
BE8eg(—E-_—_FRA=1T—8":
ASH)EE - BIRRAFEBRENELR
B AEBERANTRITEESHOAS
MAXEENEZREBERA - Ewm AL
B 71 o] B 48 & 375 - $$@Eﬁﬁ@
B mBE - BE BSAKKLE
ENFNFBRBEBETHBAEER
FER O EBEMNAEIRZIMEBEERER
VEMFTIRE o

Employment 1EIE
e The Group attaches great importance to the basic rights and e AKREFESEEBEBSHENE
interests of the employees, the entering into of employment N HEFAEEIVEESR -

contracts with all employees, and the provision of relevant
social insurances and employee’s compensation insurance and
medical insurance to all employees.

° The Group is an equal opportunities employer, committed to
eliminating sex, age, race, disability and religious
discrimination in employment and emphasizing on the
performance and experience of the staffs in promotion or
recruitment. A fair and structural staff performance
assessment is set for making promotion and salary increment
decisions. Staff appraisal will be conducted annually to assess
work performance.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare noted in the seven-
month period ended 31 December 2022.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIFE -2 hERWME(E)

TREWRZBEZ_—_F+_A=+—
BEZWER - EBEHER - FHeHER i
BeBElomes IUARBE=ZF
&+ A=+—Hit@AHAE

The following table sets out the workforce by gender, employment
type, age group and geographical region and as at 31 December
2022 and the employee turnover rate by gender, employment type,
age group and geographical region for the seven-month period

ended 31 December 2022: R EEER - EBER e
s 5 B 5 O R B R

Workforce Employee turnover Gender ratio

Headcount rate% (Male:Female)
4 Bl L 45
LEHEAE BERKXE% (B: L)
Gender 1 Rl
Male B 63 5.1 N/A i A
Female M 23 0 N/A i 3
Employment type & 1B 48 5l
Senior level staff =R E 8 0 6:2
Administrative staff THIES 8 0 1.7
Operation staff 2iERES 70 5.1 56:14
Age group F 48 Rl
30 and below 30 MIA TR 43 7.7 N/A TNiE A
31-40 315540 5% 25 5.6 N/A 13 F
41-50 41 5%-50 5% 15 0 N/A 136 F
Above 50 508 A £ 3 0 N/A AN A
Geographical region It 32 [ 35
Hong Kong BB 15 0 N/A TN iE A
PRC =S 57 43 N/A T iE A
Macau SR 8 12.5 N/A TN E A
Health and Safety fE B EL % 2

The Group is dedicated to providing a healthy and safe
workplace to its employees. The promotion of occupational
and health measures at workplace are regarded as essential
to our businesses and operations of the Group. The Group
committed to undertaking various occupational health and
safety measures to relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Law of People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap 509 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). Appropriate occupational and health
manuals relevant to the Group’s businesses are adopted by
the core business units. Risk assessments of workstations are
conducted constantly to identify and assess the risks to the
safety and health of the employees, and to decide whether
existing measures are adequate.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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48

° First aid kits are located at convenient locations and are
properly maintained in the office, workshop(s) and

e MHMAE ERkEESEAF
MUERESHE XZEH

warehouse(s). o
e Workplace safety posters were display at prominent location o RAEEEENBRMAEBERI T

in the warehouse(s) of the Group to remind the staff of
safety.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards noted for the seven-month
period ended 31 December 2022.

The following table sets out the number and rate of work-related
fatalities of the Group for the seven-month period ended 31
December 2022:

ESMZe8Hm RETIEAE

5 [
AELRE

HE_ZT_—_H#+_-_A=+—H1+t
B AMME HEEREBREEZET
ERENRERERAIBERLENE
AR RIER -

TEHWBEE—_ZEZE=-_—_&F+=A
=t+—HI+tEAPEAERRATIE
BEE ML T M A B M b =R

Headcount Rate

BAH Lt =

Work-related fatalities ITEBEMmET — —
For the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the Group BE—_T-_—H#+—-_HA=+—HItt

has not incurred any lost days due to work injury of its employees.

Development and Training

° The Group believes that training is an important path to
improve the overall work quality and offer comprehensive
development to the employees. The Group encourages our
employees to attend external or internal training courses to
enhance their competence and job-related knowledge.

o Experienced/Senior employees will provide supervision to the
newcomers/subordinates in order to enhance communication
and team spirits within the Group, and to improve their
technical skills and managerial capability.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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The following table sets out the percentage of employees trained TEZHIIAEFEHEE ST _—_—F+—
by gender and employment type and the average training hours RA=+—H1EtEABEZMLER &E
completed per employee by gender and employment type of the BrEAMNE»HNZIEE B0 RIZE
Group for the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022: PR EEERESHNBAEE TR

BlESRESL:SS -

Percentage of  Average training hours
employees trained completed per employee

BEEETAZIN

FIEEBD L TR
% Hour
Aot iS4
Gender 5 7l
Male B 11 2.3
Female 7 4 2 2.5
Employment type EERER
Administrative staff ITHIES 0 0
Operation staff EIERE B 13 2.5
Labour Standard & TR
. The Group respects human rights and has a zero-tolerance o AREBEE AN YR B S GH &
policy towards the employment of forced labour and child TRETERDMEADHE - AR
labour. Upon joining the Group, each staff is required to fill in NEBK BLXETEEE —H
a recruitment form. Should the staff provide false identity or HEXK - WMEIRHEEBRIH
false personal particulars, he/she would be considered to have KEBRBAEL  BHEAKE
committed serious breach of the Group'’s rules and regulations B AN EE R R B & RGN 37 BD
and his/her employment would be terminated immediately. RIEEERE -
There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations HE = EaeEae s B = 9 —[g] IlE4E
relating to preventing child and forced labour noted in the seven- @AM BHEEREBAILERE
month period ended 31 December 2022. T Kogadl4s THMREBEERENIER -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Operating Practice

Supply Chain Management

The goods from the suppliers must be checked by the Group’s
qualified engineer for product quality and safety and will be
stored in our warehouse.

All parts suppliers of our electronic equipment must comply
with national or international safety standard.

If the suppliers fail to maintain the safety standard of their
products, the Group will eliminate the aforesaid supplier from

the approved supplier list.

Annual supplier evaluation will be conduct by management.

Product Responsibility

The Group poses a fair marketing concept that commits not
making dishonest allegation of our competitors in order to
mislead the customers during their decision-making.
Moreover, the Group would not acquire confidential
information of a competitor via espionage, the subordination
of the competitor’'s employees or through any other improper
means.

The Group has committed to supply the goods and services
that meet the reasonable expectations of our customers. We
provide customers with effective mechanism to lodge
complaints and manage such complaints with due care.
Besides, the Group respects the confidentiality of our
customers and their commercial information. We do not
disclose such information to protect their privacy.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations

relating to health,

safety, advertising, bid-rigging and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and methods of
redress noted in the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022.

Privacy Protection

The Group strictly complied with The Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap 486 of Laws of Hong Kong)

The Group committed to upholding intellectual property
rights. All employees were educated and expected to protect
intellectual property rights and avoid any infringement.
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Anti-corruption

o The Group strictly complied with applicable laws and
regulations against corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, including but not limited to the Laws of
Anti Competition of the People’s Republic of China, the
Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China and Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong.

° The Group refuses bribery, corruption, extortion and money
laundering activities. Employees shall report any misconduct
to its manager. A whistle-blowing email has been setup for
reporting such incidents and senior management will be
responsible for investigation if deem necessary.

° The Group is listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange and
has strict guidelines for directors and senior management for
any disclosure of conflict of interest. Besides, directors or
senior management are required to take certain hours of
training each year.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
against bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering noted in the
seven-month period ended 31 December 2022.

COMMUNITY

Community Investment

o Social responsibility is one of the Group’s cultures. We are
committed to striving for the betterment of society and hold
strongly the belief that a business organization should not
detach itself from its social responsibility.

° The Group encourage its employee to participate in volunteer
activities in order to give back to the society and people in
need.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Index to the ESG Reporting Guide (RE - HEREAREEINIARE
5

Area: Environmental El =

Disclosure Indicator Section

BREER =4}

A1: Emissions General Disclosure  Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Emission

with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
1 BER —RIFE FRABERMBZERBEENR mMAKRIHOEEST -  HHY

EEREEREVHNELESN  QBE: kb)E
THETABEAZENHBZZRRINE

%t o

A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emission

A1.1 HEn i 5 N AR B U - 719587

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where  Environmental
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production Performance
volume, per facility). Indicator

A1.2 BERBRAFRECAMAZE) R(MER)EE RESEXEEZ

(WA SES8EMN  BHEHRETE) -

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tons) and where  Emission
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production

volume, per facility).
A1.3 FEAXEEEEMAE CABTE) R(WER)E By

BN SESEMN  BHEHRKRETE) -

Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tons) and,  Emission
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

Al.4 FTEEREEEYAE UEa8) R (WER)E WY
BN BESEMN SERETHE)

A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and  Emission
results achieved.

A15 RO EHF R ENEBRAFRR - 713587

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous  Emission
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results
achieved.

A1.6 HARBEREENEZTEEZEYN L REEELEE  BEHRY

EOREN NGRS E
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HEgRELHRSE (B)

Disclosure Indicator Section
BEER =6
A2: Use of General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including  Use of Resource
Resources energy, water and other raw materials.
A2 BRER  —MEE ERERER(BEER KEREMRME) R BIRER
= o
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.  Environmental
electricity, gas or ail) in total (kWh) and intensity (e.g. Performance
per unit of production volume, per facility). Indicator
A2.1 REMIASHEER SBEEER(INE Rk REZEWEE
MBEEE (A TETERGE) REE(WUEE
BB BERKMWHE)
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per  Environmental
unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
Indicator
A2.2 BEKERZEE(WMAEBESSEL  BEFZBT REEZUER
H)o
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and  Use of Resource
results achieved.
A2.3 A gE R A = at 8 RIS AR o &R
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing ~ N/A
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
initiatives and results achieved.
A2.4 HAKERERKRE LA BEMRNBE  URIEAR TEA
KR e 5T B R FTIS AR ©
A2.5 Total packaging materials used for finished products (in ~ N/A
tons) and, where appropriate, with reference to per
unit produced.
A2.5 BRMAAAEEMENEE (ABEE) R(E TER
RIBEEBMNEE -
A3: Environmental General Disclosure  Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact ~ Emission
and Natural on the environment and natural resources.
Resources —RH = BMEZTAHREBERRABRERNEAFZEN W
A3 IRIER B -
RAER
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on  The Environmental
the environment and natural resources and the and Natural
actions taken to manage them. Resources
A3.1 HREBEDHRERRXAERNEATZER RBERRKAER

EXNEEARAZENTY
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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54

Area: Social HE:He
Disclosure Indicator Section
WEEE =41

Employment and Labour Standard

ERERSE TERA

B1: Employment  General Disclosure

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

Employment and
Labour Practice

B1: fE1E —REE ERATWREE BEREA TERE - B EBERSEISH

- FE#e 2t RESAREMFER
BANBE RETHBETABEATENIEH
EERBOIMER -

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age  Employment
group and geographical region. Practice

B1.1 ZHER - EREL  FRAEANEMEESHNEE EFEZHR
HEN -

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and  Employment
geographical region. Practice

B1.2 BRI FRARNRMESSNEE MK E - BIRE R

B2: Health and
Safety

General Disclosure

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

Health and Safety

B2 : REHELE —KREKE EFRRHUHZ2IFRRERRBEEEREBENE EREZSD
BENRR METHETAGEAZENERH
ERERIROINER
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety
B2.1 ATIEREEMILTH AR E - fEEREEE
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
B2.2 HIGEATIERH - REEZE
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety  Health and Safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented and
monitored.
B2.3 RPN RRERLT 2HE URBEY REERZSE

TTRERITE-
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HEgRELHRSE (B)

Disclosure Indicator

BREER

Section

;0]

B3: Development
and Training

B3 : BR KIEFI

B4: Labour
Standard

B4 : 5 T XA

General Disclosure

— R

B3.1

B3.1

B3.2

B3.2

General Disclosure

— R

B4.1

B4.1

B4.2

B4.2

Operation Practice

EEEDN
B5: Supply Chain
Management

5:tpEEEE

General Disclosure
— AR EE
B5.1

B5.1

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.
FERARAEEBTIEBRENAZEKRENEK
Ko FMEEINES -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

RUEFIREERMN(NSRERE PREEE

F)EOMEIEEBEDL

The average training hours completed per employee
by gender and employee category.
RrUERIREEERZ D BREETAZINT
15 B B o

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing
child and forced labour.

BRAMIEE T KR 64 TH : (B Kb)ESF
HETABEKRR %mm@%@&ﬁﬂméﬂ

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

Ml HEEINERABRE T REH S
| ©

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.
Ml EERERE
-

LB OH BR B BR8P BR BXAY

Policies on managing environmental and social risks
of the supply chain.
ERHERNRRREERABBUR -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

mriwEE W HEEREE -

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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56

Disclosure Indicator Section
REER =4}

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, ~ Supply Chain
number of suppliers where the practices are being Management
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.

B5.2 MAERERMHERNES MERTAEHAED HEREEE
MHERBE UAREBAEINRITRERT
Pk

B6: Product General Disclosure  Information on the policies and compliance with  Product

Responsibility

B6: EmEE

— R

B6.1

B6.1

B6.2

B6.2

B6.3

B6.3

B6.4

B6.4

B6.5

B6.5

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of
redress.

ERMRHEERNRBNEEEZE  BEES &
BERLBEEARBRITENKE  RETH %
TABERZENHEBERRAIINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EERCDELXEMBHRPTRLREREEHM
AR AL -

Number of products and service-related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

BRERNERNMRBHRFHRE AREEH X -

Description of practices relating to observing and

protecting intellectual property rights.
M EREENRENZEEGANED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

Wi E e EBEREMDKER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
poIicies how they are implemented and monitored.
R BEERRERLEBEEK - A RAEEHARIT
&%%H&
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
BRI -elkEnmE (B)

Disclosure Indicator Section

BREER ;0]

B7: Anti-corruption General Disclosure  Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Anti-corruption
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B7 - RES —RIBE BEAMLEHER R HFEREBRENQ@QEE: RES
MO BFTHETAREAZENHBERZLR
DIy & HY -
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt  Anti-corruption

practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases.
B7.1 RERBAHBTAXAEERENIEREDN RES
BAFDRRENEE RFRER -
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-  Anti-corruption
blowing procedures, how they are implemented and
monitored.
B7.2 M EEE R B HEN  URBERTRER RES
AL
Community
HE

B8: Community  General Disclosure  Policies on community engagement to understand ~ Community
investment the needs of communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities” interests.
B - tt[EIRE —BEE FANME2HERERETAEENEHES HE
ENBREXBEHEERLENSABE -

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Community
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

B8.1 EIEREE(WHE BEEHE BITRK - oE
BE-ft-88E) -

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the ~ Community
focus area.
B8.2 EEIGBMHBER(WSELEM) - it
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Report of the Board of Directors

EEgHRE

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the seven-
month period ended 31 December 2022.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in (1) the provision of visual display solution services for concerts
and events in Hong Kong, Macau and the People’s Republic of China
(excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan for the purpose of this report,
the “PRC"”) and (2) the provision of information technology consulting
services in the PRC (the”Business”). The principal activities of its
subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the audited consolidated financial
statements.

Results and Dividends

The financial performance of the Group for the seven-month period
ended 31 December 2022 and the financial position of the Group as at
that date are set out in the audited consolidated financial statements on
pages 87 to 93 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022.

Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five years is set out on page 172 of this annual report.

Significant Investments and Future Plans for
Material Investments and Capital Assets

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Significant Investments, Material
Acquisitions and Disposals Of Subsidiaries”, during the seven-month
period ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant
investments.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the seven months ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note
18, 19 to the audited consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Bank Borrowings

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group at 31 December 2022 are set
out in note 27 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

Interest Capitalised

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the seven months
ended 31 December 2022.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
seven months ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 30 to the
audited consolidated financial statements.

Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the seven months ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 31 to the audited
consolidated financial statements respectively.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2022, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$41,823,810. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the
Company may be applied for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association and provided that immediately following the payment of
distributions or dividends, the Company shall be able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities

The Company did not redeem its listed securities, nor did the Company or
any of its subsidiaries purchase, cancel or sell any of such listed securities
for the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —Z = —fF% =

gRE (8)

3R 1T 15

—\\
;'#

R_ZE_—_F+_A=+—H "&EER
TERFBIANECEZRA T ERRM T

N %

MEEXRL

BE_ZT__F+t_-_HA=t—HBLEtME
A AEBEYEERCEMAE -

iR A

BE_Z_—_F#+-_A=+—HL+tE
B ARABJRAZ EEFBEHNER XS
AR R MIFE30 °

it

HE2E_ T -+ _-_A=+—HItt @
A AEBRARARNREEEDFED 5
BREA DR T 1OREEZEE
B ig R =31 o

A 5 2k {5

F_E::¢+:HE+—E'$QEW

2R F B R B 5 5 541,823,810 T 1R IE
HEHERAE  AARZKRDEE A &
BEARRABRREEL DR FKRE
WESARARMAHSERMEEHTRRE

BARARRERBELREBY RXZHRE
BEABRENINERBEESHIHZE
ﬁ%o

BE LEIEELETRERSE

HE=Z= -4+ =+ —HIE+@AH
B AARIYWEBEE FHES - AAQF
S EEMMBARNEREE  FHEEE
RARMEMLEMES -

mER 59



60

Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

E=gHE(E)

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the seven-month period ended 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ma Lie (Chairman)

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Tam Chun Yu

Ms. Zhang Yan Ling

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Yue
Mr. Cui Hai Bin
Mr. Ji Gui Bao
Ms. Jiang Yu E
Mr. Li Xiao Hua

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting,
at least one-third of the Directors shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.

Confirmation of Independence

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent and meet the independent guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of
Appointment

(a) Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated
by not less than one month’s notice served by either party on the
other. The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

(b) Independent non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which
may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by
either party on the other. The term of service of a Director is subject
to the provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in
the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than
contracts expiring or determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries, as
applicable within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation).

Emoluments of Directors and Five Highest Paid
Individuals

The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee by reference to the benchmarking of the market. The
Company also looks into individual Director’'s competence, duties,
responsibilities, performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 14 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 76 to 81 of this annual report.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests
in Contracts

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors or an entity
connected with any of them had any material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, parent company or subsidiaries of the parent company was a
party and subsisting at any time during or at the end of the seven months
ended 31 December 2022.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

E=gHE(E)

As at 31 December 2022, no contract of significance had been entered
into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of their subsidiaries.

Director’s Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt
Securities

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the seven
months ended 31 December 2022 was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors or chief executive of the Company (including their
spouses or children under 18 years of age) to have any right to subscribe
for securities of the Company or any of its specified undertakings as
defined in the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation or to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

Management Contracts

As at 31 December 2022, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and/or administration contracts in respect of the whole or
any principal business of the Company.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests
in Competing Business

During the seven months ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date
of this annual report, the Directors are not aware of any business and
interest of the Directors nor the controlling shareholders of the Company
nor any of their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) that compete or may compete with the business of the Group and
any other conflict of interests which any such person has or may have
with the Group from the listing date to the date of this annual report.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continue )

Compliance of Non-Competition Undertakings

Subsequent to the disposal of a total of 65% equity interest in the Group
by Next Vision Management Limited (“Next Vision” or the “Original
Controlling Shareholder”) on 18 February 2022 and 7 March 2022, Mr.
Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, Mr. Chang Yu-shu, UCP Co., Ltd, Ms. Ching
Hsiang-yun and Next Vision have ceased to hold, whether individually or
collectively, 30% or more of the total number of issued shares of the
Company and thus ceased to be regarded as controlling shareholders (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules). Therefore, the deed of non-competition
entered into by Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, Mr. Chang Yu-shu, UCP Co.,
Ltd, Ms. Ching Hsiang-yun and Next Vision in favour of the Company (for
itself and each of its subsidiaries) on 22 May 2017 (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) has ceased to have effect from 7 March 2022 according to
its terms.
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EEgWRE (E)

EEREIRE

(@) EEREFETBRAEBRADQT
REMEBZIENRMD  HEK
NREERTHNEER AR

Disclosure of Directors’ Interests

(a) Interests and short positions of Directors and chief
executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the R—_ZE-_—_F+_A=+—H E=F

Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the shares, FIARDNFEZETHRAERARNT E
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated M rE(TERBAERBEKRGE
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded XVE)M D - HHEE D R EED

in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO; or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors as

BERBES KHBE GO FE3521&7
AZGHTE 7 B < B 50 60 # 25 KR
B HARIEGEM £ T #7 Al S5 5.46 f& T

referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows: Lif EETEAEARSHNETEERIT
Ae AR A KRB FT R R RO B a0
e
(i) Interests in the Company (i) XATEZR
Number of
Shares Percentage of
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1) shareholding
vk - 4=
EERE B HEmtE (MF3E1) BERESH
Mr. Ma Lie Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 440,000,000 (L) 55.0%
BRIk A X PEGEE s (M 5E2)
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 3) 56,000,000 (L) 7.0%
15 05 3 55 & XA E R (M 5E3)
Ms. Jiang Yu E Beneficial Owner 2,994,000 (L) 0.37%
ZE@ T EniEA A
Mr. Cui Hai Bin Beneficial Owner 1,000,000 (L) 0.13%
EBBREAE EniEE A
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling Beneficial Owner 1,404,000 (L) 0.18%
R¥E L+ EniEA A
Notes: B3 -

1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares.

2. ST MA LTD is wholly owned by Mr. Ma Lie, the chairman, an executive
Director and a controlling shareholder of the Company.

E Next Vision was beneficially owned by Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis as to
75%. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis was deemed to
be interested in the shares held by Next Vision.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)
EFemE(E)

(i) Interest in associated corporation of the Company (i) AARQXT|EBLEPERE
Number of
Name of shares Percentage of
Name of Director associated corporation Capacity (Note 1) shareholding
g g=|
EERE HEEZEE B 514 (MgaE1) BERESHK
Mr. Ma Lie ST MA LTD (Note 2) Beneficial owner 50,000,000 (L) 100.0%
BRlsE 4 STMALTD (Fff7%2) Em#EAA
Notes: B &
1. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the shares. 1. FRIIREXMEBATRED SR B
TR -
2. ST MA LTD is wholly owned by Mr. Ma Lie, the chairman, an executive 3. STMALTDEHARRIEFE - #$1TEE
Director and controlling shareholder of the Company. LI EEINEELEHEE -

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, none [ F X ZEEI - RAERBH - HEE
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any Z=HAQRF RS THAERAKR 7]k HH
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or FAB (FE & RFBAH LKEEIEHIEXVED) &
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within %) - HHEKR O EEBZ R E AR IEF 5
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were recorded in the & HI S (& H] F 352185 AZIER EFE 2 &
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO; or (i) 2 I A9 R 25 304 & (i) iR 38 GEM Lk 1 #]
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange HIES546i8FTilE EHETHESXSHHRT
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors as 1% 52 17 Hl & /K A 7] } B 32 P £9 # 25 5004
referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules. B o
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(b) Interests and short positions of the substantial (b) FERRXRREMALTRAELQTF

shareholders and other persons in the shares and WROREEBROTPNEZR
underlying shares of the Company KRB
As at 31 December 2022, so far as it is known to the Directors, the R-ZE-_—_F+_A=+—H" EBE
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the EHMHM THAL(RRRES R &
Company) had interests or short positions in shares or underlying SITHABBRIN RARQ A KM A
shares of the Company which were recorded in the register RO EEREZEES R EEMHE
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO: 3BERINAZGCREFEZELMH
Rk R -
Number of

Shares held/
Interested Percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1) shareholding
®BE/EBA
34y
KR #A
REREH B EatE (Bt&E1) BRESL
ST MA LTD (Note 2) Beneficial owner 440,000,000 (L) 55.0%
STMALTD (Ff 5E2) EnfEBA
Next Vision (Note 3) Beneficial owner 56,000,000 (L) 7.0%
Next Vision (Fff 7% 3) EnlEA A
Notes: Bt 5
IE The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares. 1. FRLIAREHBALTRBOFHIR -
2. ST MA LTD is wholly owned by Mr. Ma Lie, the chairman, an executive Director 2. STMALTDH A AR EE ITE S RIE/RR
and a controlling shareholder of the Company. BREEINEELEHES -
3. Next Vision was beneficially owned by Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis as to 75%. 3. Next Vision i 18 5 L 5e A B 25 A 75%
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis was deemed to be interested in BIEEANEBERY  BETEERE S
the shares held by Next Vision. M Next Vision#5 5 K IE (D P G #E2S o
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no interests or B EXWEEIIN R—2B - —F+—
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company B=+—8" ﬁ%ﬁg/\z]x NG AR
was recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section AR AEIRESA LB E (&M E
336 of the SFO. BHINAZGREFE 2 E LM

R TAR -
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Share Option Scheme

The then sole shareholder of the Company conditionally adopted on 19
May 2017 the Share Option Scheme. A summary of the principal terms of
the Share Option Scheme is set out as follows:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared in
accordance with Chapter 23 of the Listing Rules and is established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) had or may have made to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company with the view to achieving the following
objectives: (i) motivate the Eligible Participants (as defined below) to
optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and (ii) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going
business relationship with the Eligible Participants (as defined
below) whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-
term growth of the Group.

2. Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to the
following persons (collectively the “Eligible Participants”) to
subscribe for such number of new shares as the Board may
determine: (i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (i) any directors
(including non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and (iii) any
advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, distributors and such
other persons who, in the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute
or have contributed to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.

3. Total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and percentage of
issued shares

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no share option has been granted
under the Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and under any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 80,000,000 shares, representing
10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

E=gHE (@)

BT E

ARBZERE-—BRRERR_FT—LFHA
TABERMERABRES S - BRES
FZTEBRRBMEHIINT -

1. BRESTENEN

BREAEARELTHRAEZEM
EHEN-BABRNEBE BESTE
REFAERZ2AE(ERERTOY
AEBFLHAIREEFEHNER - B
BEAEFERNAER2EE(EER
TXORERENAREESR EAR
@m RERTIER: (HBAERS
BEEERLTXOAXKENNEM
BIEERBRE : RHW3ILEEAR
ER2EE(ERER T RAEMT
AEZERERZBAERFFEED
MR MaZERER2EENER
HYBEHAKENREEREM -

2. BRESISHEE

EZ2RBRER NIAL(HE
[RERZ2EE DR DBRE  URB
EEerEBEENABNROEKE -
OWARBREFEMKE QTN EME
BARBREE TRABXSHRB
B (AR ARREEMMNEQRNE
MES(BRIFATESTRBILIEHR
TER) MMEFS2ER/BY
HEHARA RLHERNE R A
EL BRI EREER  FAA - HE
BEFP NHBEREMAEBAL

3. REBREGFHTHETHR

HBRBRERITROBEDI L

REAERAUTES BEREER
TERT 8 BT BB AR - AR IR B AR A
STl R A D AT H A BB A A & /]
REREMEBRERMSEAORMOEE £
R & 115 &8 48 80,000,000 A% A% 17 -
MREBERIUITHHE ZTRMORL
HZ10% °
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Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including both exercised and outstanding options) to each Eligible
Participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any
further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject
to: (i) the issue of a circular by the Company containing the identity
of the Eligible Participant, the numbers of and terms of the options
to be granted (and options previously granted to such participant),
the information as required under Rules 23.02(2)(d) and the
disclaimer required under 23.02(4) of the GEM Listing Rules; and (ii)
the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting and/or other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time
with such Eligible Participant and his close associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) (or his/her associates if the Eligible Participant is a
core connected person) abstaining from voting.

REERESESESREN
E & LR

BREOAEAREEHL A IEEMI2
BAHEBEERETS RAREFE
MEMBERETENEZREGEREHE
EERHNBERERBETERMK
THEMERE)EBITEMmMA FETH
BRMDEHETSHBARNTE D AHAD #T
BDE1% - E#E— P EREBBEZ
1%RENBEREAFT: ()A QA8
HEE ERHINEGERSEENS
Do BTREHBERERBEERTZZ
HEMBRE) B KK - GEM E
A E23.02Q0d) R EHER &
E23.02M)IEREMREBRA  R>)E
BREEREAS FHER HFA L
MARTEFETAMEMMBAT MB B
RERSHEHEREZZTHEA(TER
B EMMRA) (KiHEBEWRDEE B%Z
DEBAL  BIAHEBEA) ARER

The period within which an option must be BAREBRESTETHEBIRE
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and HWEIR R FRIR B E

performance target

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the Directors to each grantee, but shall not be more
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is deemed to
be granted and accepted. A grantee may be required to achieve
any performance targets as the Board may then specify in the grant
before any options granted under the Share Option Scheme can be
exercised.

The minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must be
held before it can be exercised except otherwise imposed by the
Directors.
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7. The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the
Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price
must be at least the higher of: (i) the official closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on
the date of grant, which must be a day on which the Stock
Exchange is open for the business of dealing in securities; (i) the
average of the official closing prices of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of a Share.

8. The amount payable on application or acceptance
of the option and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made or loans
for such purposes must be repaid

The grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant on or before the relevant acceptance
date of the option.

9. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise terminated or
amended, will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the
Adoption Date, i.e. 19 May 2017.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share options were
granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme. There were no outstanding share options under the Share
Option Scheme as at the date of this annual report.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in the sub-section headed
“Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December
2022.
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Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

As far as the Directors are aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the seven-
month period ended 31 December 2022, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.

Major Customers and Suppliers

For the seven months ended 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount
of turnover attributed to the Group’s largest and the five largest
customers accounted for approximately 3.5% and 11.5% (31 May 2022:
approximately 5.9% and 16.0%) of the total revenue of the Group,
respectively. For the seven months ended 31 December 2022, the
Group's purchase from the largest and the five largest suppliers of
equipment accounted for approximately 28.7% and 84.5% (31 May
2022: approximately 50.5% and 97.5%) of the total purchases of the
Group, respectively. At no time during the seven months ended 31
December 2022 did the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) have any interest in the Group’s
major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions

During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, the Group
had the following fully exempted connected transactions: (1) On 22 July
2022, ST MA LTD, the controlling shareholder, entered into a loan
agreement with the Group and agreed to provide a loan in the principal
amount of HK$40,000,000 to the Company. (2) On 12 December 2022,
the Group entered into a share subscription agreement with ST MA LTD,
pursuant to which ST MA LTD has conditionally agreed to subscribe for
13,157,894 subscription shares at the subscription price of HK$7.60 per
subscription share for a total consideration of approximately HK$100
million. On 17 January 2023, the above connected transaction in relation
to the issue of new shares to the controlling shareholder was approved at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company.
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The above fully-exempt connected transactions have been disclosed to
the public by way of announcements. Please refer to the relevant
announcements and circulars.

Details of the material related party transactions are set out in note 32 to
the audited consolidated financial statements of this annual report. These
related party transactions did not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Remuneration to key management personnel of the Group, including
Directors described in note 14 to the Group’s audited consolidated
financial statements are continuing connected transactions exempt from
the connected transaction requirements under Rule 20.93 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 19 to 38 of this
annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws of
Caymans Islands or the Articles which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

Subject to the Companies Ordinance, every Director is entitled under the
Articles to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in
their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as he or she shall
incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Company has maintained a directors and officers liability insurance
during the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022. To the extent
as permitted by the Companies Ordinance, a directors’ liability insurance
is currently in place to protect the Directors against potential costs and
liabilities arising from claims brought against the Directors.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 86 employees (31 May 2022:
45 employees). The remuneration package of the Group offered to the
Group's employees includes salary, bonuses and other cash subsidies. In
general, the Group determines employees’ salaries based on each
employee’s qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has designed
an annual review system to assess the performance of the Group’s
employees, which forms the basis of the Group’s decisions with respect
to salary raises, bonuses and promotions.

Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its key stakeholders, including its employees, customers
and suppliers, to meet its immediate and long-term business goals.
During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, there were no
material and significant disputes between the Group and its employees,
customers and suppliers.
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The Group recognises employees as one of its valuable assets and strictly
complies with the labour laws and regulations and reviews regularly the
existing staff benefits for improvement. Apart from the reasonable
remuneration packages, the Group also offers other employee benefits,
such as medical insurance. The Group provides good quality services to its
customers and keeps a database for direct communications with recurring
customers for developing a long-term trusted relationship. The Group
also maintains effective communication and develops a long-term
business relationship with the suppliers.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance during the seven-month period
ended 31 December 2022 and the material factors underlying its results
and financial position can be found in the management discussion and
analysis set out on pages 6 to 18 of this annual report. These discussions
form part of this report.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The environmental, social and governance report, which forms part of
this report, is set out on pages 39 to 57 of this annual report.

Annual General Meeting

The forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the Company
will be held on 20 June 2023, the notice of which shall be sent to the
shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Articles, the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

Closure of Register of Members

In order to ascertain entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 15 June 2023 to Tuesday, 20 June 2023, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
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Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 14 June 2023.

Events After the Reporting Period

As far as the Directors are aware, the following events after the reporting
period have taken place subsequent to 31 December 2022 and up to the
date of approval of this report:

On 3 March 2023 (after trading hours), Shenzhen Kingdom Travel
Company Limited (“Kingdom Travel”), Zeng Yan, Huang Wenging, Hu
Zhonggiang, Zhong Weiwen, Lai Jian and Li Jiangming (collectively, the
“Vendors”) entered into an equity transfer agreement (the “Equity
Transfer Agreement”) with Guangzhou Yiciyuan Technology Company
Limited (“Guangzhou Yiciyuan”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and Shenzhen Jinlv World Travel Agency Company Limited
(the “Target Company”), pursuant to which the Vendors agreed to
conditionally transfer and Guangzhou Yiciyuan agreed to conditionally
purchase the entire equity interests in the Target Company (the
" Acquisition™).

The consideration for the Acquisition is RMB900,000, which was
determined after arm’s length negotiation between the parties with
reference to, among others, the business prospect of the Target
Company. The Directors are of the view that the consideration for the
Acquisition is fair and reasonable and on normal commercial terms and is
in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 3 March
2023.

On 7 March 2023 (after trading hours), the Company entered into a
memorandum of understanding (the “MOU”) with Shenzhen Moni
Technology Co., Ltd (FRIITEEERHZARAF]) (“Moni Technology”,
pursuant to which the Company intends to acquire the equity interest in
Moni Technology by way of capital injection or transfer of equity interest
(the “Proposed Acquisition”).

The (i) amount of equity interest in Moni Technology to be acquired by
the Company and (ii) the consideration for the Proposed Acquisition are
subject to further negotiations between the parties to the MOU before
entering into any formal agreement. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 7 March 2023.
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Auditor BB

The Company changed its auditor from PricewaterhouseCoopers to B -Z - —F A+t B ARQa &
Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited with effect from 17 June 2022. For details, ETHRZE TR KB M ERAENR AP E
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 17 June 2022. RESHMEHEMEAERAR HIFE2E

AREBAHAE-_T-_—_FA+LtEHA

&£ o

The consolidated financial statements for the seven-month period ended #HE-—"ZT-——®+_-_H=+—HIFt{@A
31 December 2022 have been audited by Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited, HERMGAMEREDHTELT ES T
who shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being ERFFER A =i mMEE R EREE

eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. BFERELEREVFTAERREEERE
£
Change of Financial Year End Date ERUBRFELEH

The Company's financial year end date has been changed from 31 May AAGMBHBKEELEEHAEHAAR=1T—

to 31 December and the reporting financial period in this report coversa H & A+ - A=+ —H ApE RNFE

seven-month period from 1 June 2022 to 31 December 2022. HEERE T _—_F A —HEEZ
S _FFZA=T—HItERAEME-

By order of the Board EEEGH
In Technical Productions Holdings Limited In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
Ma Lie E
Chairman =1
22 March 2023 Sedm Sess ==
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Executive Directors

Mr. Ma Lie, aged 44, was appointed as an executive Director and the
chairman of the Board of the Company on 11 May 2022. Mr. Ma is
primarily responsible for the formulation of the Group’s development
strategies and the diversification of its business. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Ma worked in Shenzhen Shengshi Great Wall Advertising Co.,
Ltd. ORI RIMESBR2AR]) (“Shenzhen Shengshi”) between
2006 and 2019 with the last position as the general manager. Shenzhen
Shengshi is principally engaged in the provision of branding, advertising
and marketing services and has accumulated extensive entertainment
media resources. Mr. Ma is also the supervisor of Shenzhen Qianhai
Zhongyu International Asset Management Co., Ltd. G237 B1/& - B
BEBIEAMR AT which is principally engaged in investment and asset
management and has acquired investment-related expertise which has
brought positive impact on the diversification of the Group’s business.

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (#&%), aged 49, was appointed as a
Director on 4 November 2016 and re-designated as an executive Director,
chief executive officer and chairman of the Board on 10 November 2016.
He resigned as the chairman of the Board on 11 May 2022 but remained
as an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company. Mr.
Yeung is also the founder, chief executive officer of the Group and a
director of each of ITP (BVI), ITP (HK), Intechpro Macau Limited, and the
executive director, general manager and legal representative of each of
Shiji Tiansheng Cultural Communication (Shenzhen) Limited (42 AK5% X
{EEECRII)BFR A R]) and Shanghai Yingtegao Stage Arts Limited (_E/&
BESEASEMARAT). Mr. Yeung founded the Group in April 2009
and is primarily responsible for devising strategies to develop the Group
and overseeing the business and financial performance of the Group.
Throughout the years of serving the Group, Mr. Yeung led the Group to
adopt a number of latest LED and projection technologies for creative
applications for pop concerts, such as Mesh LED and transparent LED
panels. Mr. Yeung has nearly 13 years of experience in video equipment
rental and services. Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Yeung worked as a
senior manager of I-MAG International Limited, a company which is
principally engaged in video equipment rental business where he was
responsible for customer accounts handling from April 2007 to May
2009. During the course of his promotion of video equipment rental
service for I-MAG International Limited to its customers, Mr. Yeung
acquired the relevant knowledge of the video equipment and visual
display industry. From July 1999 to March 2007, Mr. Yeung worked in
various companies and was responsible for sales of products and
customer services.
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Mr. Yeung obtained a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree from Monash
University, Clayton Campus in Australia in May 1998.

Mr. Tam Chun Yu (FBE=F), aged 45, was appointed as an executive
Director on 10 November 2016. Mr. Tam joined the Group as an
operation manager in June 2009 and is primarily responsible for planning,
organising, coordinating and implementing visual display solutions of the
Group. Mr. Tam has over 17 years of experience in video equipment
rental and visual display solutions. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tam
worked as a technician of I-MAG International Limited from April 2007 to
June 2009 and Cosmo Pro AV Co. from February 2002 to February 2006.
Mr. Tam attended his secondary school education in Hong Kong from
September 1990 to August 1993.

Ms. Zhang Yan Ling (FR#%), aged 60, was appointed as an executive
Director on 17 November 2022. Ms. Zhang joined the Group as
administrative manager in November 2022. Ms. Zhang graduated from
Tianjin University of Finance & Economics with a bachelor degree in
Economics. She worked in the Agricultural Bank of China between 1984
and 2018 with the last position as a bank manager at the Shenzhen
Yuanling branch (BlU43777).

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ji Gui Bao (&2& ), aged 58, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 11 May 2022. Mr. Ji has been registered as a
Certified Public Accountant of the PRC since 1995 and has extensive
experience in the accounting field. He has been working for Shenzhen
Wanda Accounting Firm (ORI = & 5HEIEHFT) since January 2005 and
is currently a partner of the firm.

Mr. Cui Hai Bin (£5&), aged 39, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 11 May 2022. Mr. Cui graduated from China
University of Geosciences (FF Bl#E K22 in 2007 with a major in laws.
Mr. Cui is a lawyer in the PRC and currently a partner of Guangdong
Promise-U (Qianhai) Law Firm (&% &2 KIEFE)ERMEIEAT). Mr. Cui
was admitted as a lawyer in the PRC in 2009. His practice covers complex
corporate reorganisations and equity capital markets transactions.
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Mr. Chen Yue (FRi#), aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 11 May 2022. Mr. Chen obtained a Master of
Business Administration from Sun Yat-sen University in 2012. Mr. Chen
has extensive experience in business development and management. He
is the chief executive officer of Shenzhen Laihatching Internet Company
Limited (ORIIRIFEFELBAFRAR]), which is principally engaged in
internet investment. Mr. Chen was the general manager of the marketing
and promotion department and the public relations department of China
Resources C'estbon Beverage (China) Co., Ltd., a company based in the
PRC focusing on the beverage business from 2006 to December 2021.

Ms. Jiang Yu E (ZE#), aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 11 May 2022. Ms. Jiang the chairman of
Shandong Ansuyue Technology Company Limited* (IR ZR BRI AR
‘A\]). She has been the chairman of Shenzhen Hawfeng Ballerina
Decoration Co., Ltd. (RYITEE FEREmAR A F]) since 2013. She
has extensive experience in sales and corporate management.

Mr. Li Xiao Hua (ZEEZE), aged 71, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 17 November 2022. Mr. Li founded Huada
International Holdings Co. Limited in 1988 and served as the chairman of
the board of directors since then, which businesses cover China, Japan,
Southeast Asia and South America. He has been elected as the member
of the 9th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, the Honorary Chairman of the China Charity
Federation, member of the Standing Committee of the All-China
Federation of Industry and Commerce and director of the China Overseas
Friendship Association.

With effect from 6 October 2022, Mr. Li acts as a non-executive director

of Great China Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited (Stock Code: 21), a
company listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior I\/Ianagement (Continued)
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Senior Management

Ms. Ng Tsz Ning Loretta (R%2%%), aged 50, is an accountant of the
Group. Ms. Ng joined the Group in June 2015 and is primarily responsible
for overseeing the day-to-day operation of financial activities of the
Group. Ms. Ng has over 25 years of experience in accounting and finance.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Ng was an accounting supervisor of ASB
Biodiesel (HK) Limited from March 2014 to June 2015, an accountant of
Team Success (Pacific) Limited from February 2012 to November 2013, an
accounting manager of Jiawei Solarchina Company Limited from April
2011 to September 2011, an assistant accounting manager of Saraya
Hong Kong Co. Ltd. from March 2010 to February 2011, an accounting
manager of New Ocean Technology Limited from March 2003 to
December 2009 and an accounting and administration manager of VK
Holdings (HK) Limited from February 2000 to February 2003.

Ms. Ng obtained a bachelor degree in accountancy from University of
South Australia by distance learning in April 2003.

Mr. Lau Kai Chu Kevin (2I{£4F), aged 49, is the internal audit manager
of the Group. Mr. Lau joined the Group in October 2016 and is primarily
responsible for company policy setting, performing internal audit, and
monitoring internal control of operation. Mr. Lau has over 22 years of
experience in accounting and internal audit. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Lau was a director of JR Corporate Services Limited from July 2013 to
September 2016. He also worked in CCT Telecom (HK) Limited from April
2012 to December 2012, last served as an internal audit manager. He
was also a regional manager, control and compliance of J.V. Fitness
Limited from October 2008 to October 2010 and an internal auditor of
Michel of HK from December 2006 to October 2008.

Mr. Lau was admitted as a certified internal auditor of the Institute of
Internal Auditors in May 2006. Mr. Lau obtained his bachelor’s degree of
commerce from University of Manitoba in Canada in May 1996.
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Mr. Xu Minghuan (fRBAM), aged 38, is the project supervisor of Shiji
Tiansheng Cultural Communication (Shenzhen) Limited (tt40 X &% X {b{&
BEORYIAFRAR]). Mr. Xu joined the Group in February 2009 and is
primarily responsible for organising, coordinating and implementing visual
display solutions in PRC. Mr. Xu has over 11 years of experience in visual
display solutions and operating of visual equipment. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Xu served as a technical engineer at I-MAG International
Limited, a company which was principally engaged in the business of
video equipment rental, from May 2007 to June 2009, where he was
primarily responsible for coordinating and implementing visual display
solutions. From February 2004 to May 2007, Mr. Xu served as the
technical director at Black Leopard Performance Equipment Limited (%
REREEMR AT, a company which was principally engaged in the
business of production of lighting and LED and rental of equipment,
where he was primarily responsible for repair and installation of
equipment.

Mr. Xu received his vocational secondary education regarding electrical
and mechanical integration in Guangdong Mechanical & Electrical
Polytechnic (R & EE4X) in July 2003.

Mr. Pei Mingzhong (#£83/8), aged 39, is the deputy general manager
of Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng Technology Limited (YTt 40 KRR A
fR2A]). Mr. Pei joined the Group in June 2013 and is primarily
responsible for equipment development and maintenance. Mr. Pei has
over nine years of experience in visual equipment development. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Pei was a technical director of research and
development department of Shenzhen Zhongxiang Innovation
Optoelectronics Limited (FEYIFFRIFTIHEBRAF]) from December
2012 to June 2013 and a manager of research and development
department of Shenzhen Broad Horizon Optoelectronics Limited (&3IIR

BRF S ERR AR A R]) from August 2008 to December 2012.
Mr. Pei received his tertiary education in mechatronics from Jiangxi

Yuzhou Electronic Industrial College (TFEAINE T TZEFT) in July
2003.
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Company Secretary

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (R#), aged 58, was appointed as the Group's
company secretary on 10 November 2016. Ms. Leung has been a director
of K E Corporate Services Limited (a company secretarial services provider)
since April 2016, the managing director of K E Management &
Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since August 2015 and an independent
non-executive director of Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited (Hong Kong
Stock Code: 6063) since March 2020. Ms. Leung was a director of KCS
Hong Kong Limited from August 2008 to October 2014 and an
independent non-executive director of Green Leader Holdings Group
Limited (Hong Kong Stock Code: 0061) from April 2014 to January 2020.

Ms. Leung was admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (currently known as Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants) in the United Kingdom in July 1995. Ms. Leung
was also admitted as a fellow member of the CPA Australia in May 2004
and is currently a member of HKICPA. Ms. Leung obtained a master’s
degree in commerce from the University of New South Wales, Australia in
November 2002.

Some English names of Chinese laws and regulations, government
authorities, departments, entities, institutions, natural persons, facilities,
certificates, titles and the like for which no official English translation
exists have been unofficially translated for identification purposes only. In
the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese name will prevail.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B % B A #]E

g

ZHONGHUI

To the Shareholders of In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of In Technical
Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 87 to 171,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the period from 1
June 2022 to 31 December 2022, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the period from 1 June 2022 to 31 December
2022 in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Estimated useful lives of visual display equipment

Refer to Note 4 and Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group held visual display equipment of
approximately HK$60.6 million. For the period ended 31 December 2022,
depreciation of approximately HK$10.6 million for the visual display
equipment was recognised under “cost of services” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Depreciation of visual display equipment is calculated using a straight-line
method to allocate the cost over their estimated useful lives of 8 years,
except for the equipment which are custom made for a particular project
or event and their cost is depreciated over the duration of the project or
event.

Management estimates useful lives of the visual display equipment with
reference to the durability, expected repairs and maintenance and future
demand of the equipment.

Management also takes into account the industry practice and
expectation on technical or commercial obsolescence arising from
changes or improvements in the market relevant to their business.

We focused on this area because the carrying amount of visual display
equipment is significant to the consolidated financial statements and the
determination of estimated useful lives of visual display equipment, which
has a direct impact on the calculation of depreciation, requires the use of
significant judgements and estimates.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
&8 B ()

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Understanding and evaluating the management’s internal control
and assessment process of estimation useful lives of visual display
equipment and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity, changes
and susceptibility to management bias or fraud;

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the useful lives adopted by the
Group by reviewing the historical usage of the equipment,
discussing with management and making reference to, where
available, independent research report on durability, expected
repairs and maintenance and future demand of visual display
equipment;

— Testing on a sample basis, whether additions to visual display
equipment have been recorded in proper categories for the
calculation of depreciation; and

—  Observing the Group’s physical count procedures on visual display
equipment and the physical condition of the relevant assets to
identify whether there is any damaged or obsolete visual display
equipment.

We consider that the Group’s estimated useful lives of the visual display
equipment are supported by the available evidence.

Impairment test on property, plant and equipment
Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of property, plant and equipment for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit because the
balance of property, plant and equipment of HK$60.7 million as at 31
December 2022 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of judgement
and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Assessing the identification of the related cash generating units;

—  Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use calculations;

—  Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow projections;
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

— Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions (including
revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth rates and discount
rates); and

—  Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for property, plant and
equipment is supported by the available evidence.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

8 1% SR A ()

— FHEIERR(BEFBUEEER - FE
R BRERRNMAE) Z2EEMN
&

— BERXFEREZBAME-

WEARE S BEERALS

Hitpfz 8

EFAHHEMESAE HEMEERE &
REFBRANAAES  BTIEREEAM
BHR MBI ZEE RS

BMEGEEVEREINBERL TRERM
EE RANTHZFEMESREREM
o A o

BAaRMESEAMBRRNOEFS  HMAW
ATRMAEEMESR HElBiET ZEH
MEERTEGEMHRRIKMERT
BETPHATHEOBAFEENEBREMU
FEEERBRRANEBER - EREME
HITWIHE REMARBREMEEFE
BERERRM RPABTEREZFE-EE
FE - BPPRE RS

%%ﬁ%é%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ

EXZAAERBEEASHMASRMOE
B BREERRBFB(RAKRIHNEE
RERBEEMTENSAYBHRER I
HERBSRERAVBRRNBETIFE
B X BRAF Bk 88 AR 1 B B A0 B K B BR PR AL Ay
FHARENEE -

EREGEMBREN -EF85TE &
SEFELENRN XEEABRTH
BERBEKLEEHENER UNRERFE

—s-—Fg-kER 85



86

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Y& N 1% A ()

using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/
auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P07374

Hong Kong, 22 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

GEeEERAMEERE R

For the period ended 31 December 2022 #HZE—T-—F+=F=+—HI-HfH

1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to 1/1/2022 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022 31/5/2022
—E-C — T = F
AE—-HZ ~NA—HE =k =E=
—E-CF —F-= —E-=
+=-A=+-8 HA=+—H HA=1+—H
Notes HK$ HK$ HK$
B Ex BT BT BT
(unaudited)
(REEEZ)
Revenue & 8 40,238,260 20,347,460 4,070,943
Cost of services B 75 B A (29,245,735) (31,835,111) (11,832,044)
Gross profit/(loss) ER/(£8) 10,992,525 (11,487,651) (7,761,101)
Interest revenue B M = 722 496 109
Other income H A I A 9 2,134,555 2,957,579 758,890
Other losses, net Hit BB E 10 (179,106) (247,076) (218,593)
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition 4 & Fff B8 A 7] 69 25 (8 UL BE
of a subsidiary I 25 35(b) 11,768,234 — —
Administrative expenses TR 2 (14,981,615)  (14,392,010) (7,158,675)
Net impairment losses on trade 85 RN FIBRERR
receivables FEE (1,839,118) (1,164,018) (1,162,264)
Profit/(loss) from operation mERA/(BE) 7,896,197 (24,332,680) (15,541,634)
Finance costs B 7% A AR 11 (368,213) (644,225) (269,775)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRETBBANER(BB) 7,527,984 (24,976,905)  (15,811,409)
Income tax (expense)/credit e (AX),/ He 12 (61,094) 567,617 359,325
Profit/(loss) for the period/year B/ f5REH/(FE) 13 7,466,890 (24,409,288)  (15,452,084)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income KA EEMEE
after tax: (B1]),/ W
Item that will not be reclassified to profit & & # 7 8 2 1E#x 17
or loss: EH :
Changes in fair value of equity BAFEFAEMEE
investments at fair value through WD ER
other comprehensive income NEEES (267,179) — —
Item that may be reclassified to profit or A ¢ E ¥ 7 = 1R 2 19
loss: EH :
Exchange differences on translating BREGINEBRE R
foreign operations ZH (4,574,916) 16,143 16,144
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hi/“FREM2E (FE)
for the period/year, net of tax W ($1BR % 0E) (4,842,095) 16,143 16,144
Total comprehensive income/(loss)  H1 /SR 2@z~
for the period/year (E18) M 2,624,795 (24,393,145) (15,435,940)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)
mEEmkEMETERER(E)

For the period ended 31 December 2022 #HZE—ZT = —F+— A =+—H L

1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to 1/1/2022 to

31/12/2022 31/5/2022 31/5/2022
—E-= =EE = =8==
RA—HZE ANH—RZE —HA—RB=%
—E-C-F TEEST EHBE2=
+—HB=+—-8H ®A=+—H HA=+-—H
Notes HK$ HK$ HK$
Bt & BT ow BT
(unaudited)
(REERZ)
Profit/(loss) for the period/year LT ALEES £R
attributable to: BA(BR)
— Owners of the Company - YNGIE Z=UN 4,233,548 (24,243,425) (15,383,509)
— Non-controlling interests — IEPE RS 3,233,342 (165,863) (68,575)

7,466,890 (24,409,288) (15,452,084)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) T A+ ELE ER
for the period/year attributable to: 2K/ (E18) 45
— Owners of the Company —ARRAREE A 4,164,853 (24,227,464) (15,367,548)
— Non-controlling interests — IR 17 (1,540,058) (165,681) (68,392)

2,624,795 (24,393,145) (15,435,940)

Earnings/(loss) per share BRER(HRB) 16
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EAR R #58 (B) 0.53 (3.03) (1.92)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IR &

As at 31 December 2022 R-_ZE—_—F+—-_HA=+—H

As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
i n
—E-CF —_F-_—
+=-A=+—8 s = — 2
Notes HK$ HK$
Bt 5 BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERKRE 18 60,739,462 68,229,458
Right-of-use assets EREEE 19 3,747,040 4,499,988
Prepayments and deposits ENFEREZS 20 2,438,176 2,294,846
Equity investments at fair value through TR FER AR M2 K
other comprehensive income mAERIEE 21 33,512,821 —
Deferred tax asset RIEFIE & &= 28 853,324 140,016
101,290,823 75,164,308
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables 2 5 EIR A 20 11,973,451 4,176,190
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables & 318 « 12 % & H
J& s k18 20 191,570,735 7,286,243
Bank and cash balances RITRB AR 22 22,559,361 830,303
226,103,547 12,292,736
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables Z 5N FIE 23 165,467 =
Other payables and accrued liabilities EMEMNRBERESEE 24 52,218,763 19,293,959
Amount due to a related party FE AT BE B 5 3k 7B 26 37,294,025 4,331,226
Bank borrowings and overdrafts BITERRBESL 27 9,576,832 11,513,753
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 3,707,898 2,967,170
Taxation payable JE A B I8 2,491,470 628,764
105,454,455 38,734,872
Net current asset/(liabilities) REBEE (BB F8E 120,649,092 (26,442,136)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERS 221,939,915 48,722,172
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

re BRI R ()

As at 31 December 2022 M-ZE - —F+_-_HA=+—H

As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
—E-_F —_=F-—
+=A=+—H FA=+—8
Notes HKS$ HK$
B E BT BT
Non-current liabilities kERBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 309,508 1,838,803
Contract liabilities EHEE 25 900,800 944,000
1,210,308 2,782,803
Net assets EEEE 220,729,607 45,939,369
Capital and reserves BRARFEE
Share capital B& 7 30 8,000,000 8,000,000
Reserves #HE 31 42,626,973 38,462,120
Equity attributable to owners of the RNATHEE AEGEZ
Company 50,626,973 46,462,120
Non-controlling interests AR S 17 170,102,634 (522,751)
Total equity ERHAE 220,729,607 45,939,369

The consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 171 were approved £ 87E 171 BEHNGEAMKHRRA T =5
and authorised for issue by Board of Directors on 22 March 2023 andare = A -+ - BEEE =& # & RS T
signed on behalf of by:

Ma Lie Yeung Ho Ting Dennis
B BEE
Director Director
EF BF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERDBHR

For the period ended 31 December 2022 #ZE—-ZT - —F+_-HA=+—H - HH

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRRHEEARL
Retained
earnings/ Non-
Share Share  Capital Exchange Statutory Investment (accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve reserve losses) Total interests equity
RERF/
kA RHRE B4ARE EXRRE AERE RERE  (RHER) a3 FEREE REAR
HK§ HK§ HK§ HK$ HK§ HKS HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 June 2021 RZZ-—-%
~A—H 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 304,866 332,296 = 4,782,054 70,689,584  (357,070) 70,332,514
Total comprehensive income/ € /3 2 itz ,/
(loss) for the year (BR)eR = = = 15,961 - —  (24,243,425) (24,227,464)  (165,681) (24,393,145)
At 31 May 2022 R-B_—f&
TA=1+-H 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 320827 332,296 —  (19,461,371) 46,462,120  (522,751) 45,939,369
At 1 June 2022 W_Z-—f
~A—H 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 320,827 332,296 —  (19,461,371) 46,462,120  (522,751) 45,939,369
Total comprehensive (loss)/ ~ Ei 2 (B%&),/
income for the period YmBE - - — (7,537) - (61,158) 4,233,548 4,164,853 (1,540,058) 2,624,795
Acquisition of a subsidiary U EE i B 2 7]
(note 35(b)) (Bt 35(0) - - - - - - - — 172,165,443 172,165,443

At 31 December 2022 WZE-—%
+-RA=1+-H 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 313290 332,296 (61,158)  (15,227,823) 50,626,973 170,102,634 220,729,607
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GAERETRER

For the period ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+—-A=+—HI-&HE

1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022
—E=-= ===t
RNA—HZE NA—BZE
—E=-= =R==
+=—BA=+—8H VA= —H
Notes HK$ HK$
Bt 5 BT T
Cash flows from operating activities RETEMEESRE
Profit/(loss) before tax BrBE AR A, (B 8) 7,527,984 (24,976,905)
Adjustment for: BETHSIBEELAE:
Interest revenue ) 2z (722) (496)
Finance costs B 75 BR AR 368,213 644,225
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BWERFZE
equipment e 10,673,583 19,271,456
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,874,617 2,975,839
Provision for impairment of trade 2 5 W IE R A
receivables B 1,839,118 1,164,018
Gain on bargain purchase & B U W s 35(b) (11,768,234) —
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital & & & & )i 45 &
changes s (E1R) 10,514,559 (921,863)
Change in trade receivables Z 5 W e # 646,198 (633,895)
Change in prepayments, deposits and TERTRIE - ’E Rk
other receivables E bk RO 8 (26,232,069) 1,591,472
Change in contract liabilities EHAEEES (43,200) 584,000
Change in trade payables B 5 e RIE# g (426,999) —
Change in other payables and accrued E {th jE - 3008 & e AT
liabilities BEEHY (429,913) 5,501,484
Cash (used in)/generated from operations ~ #& % (FTA)/ I3 R < (15,971,424) 6,121,198
Hong Kong profits tax paid BERNEANER — (640,100)
Net cash (used in)/generated from KEETH (A, s
operating activities ReFHE (15,971,424) 5,481,098
Cash flows from investing activities REZBFREBSESRE
Interest received 2 U F 2 722 496
Payment for acquisition of property, plant ~ U BB % - ME L&k
and equipment (NEN (3,359,955) (8,675,175)
Net cash inflow from acquisition of WEEM B A R AR & M A
a subsidiary R RE 35(b) 11,633,559 —
Repayment from the immediate holding BEEZERARENR
company — 50,000
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEFEHFRE(FrA)
investing activities HEFH 8,274,326 (8,624,679)

92  In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Second Annual Report 2022



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
1\\7.|—\ EE \//\/ZEE%(/%%E\

For the period ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+=-H=+—H LHH

1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022
—E=-= =y —4E
ANA—HBZE NA—HBZE
—E-= e —
+=ZA=+—H B =EF—E
Notes HK$ HK$
B & BT BT
Cash flows from financing activities METBHMERERE
Proceed of bank borrowings and overdrafts R 17 f& 3t & & % FT 18 70 18 — 7,330,217
Repayment of bank borrowings BiBRITHERK (1,936,921) (5,324,891)
Proceed of other borrowings H {th {5 ST 15 BB 4,189,804 —
Advance from a related party RA B 5 Bk 32,962,799 4,331,226
Payments of principal element of lease EEMEaEEREE D
liabilities (1,904,890) (2,973,684)
Payments of interest element of lease EBEEHEREMNEED
liabilities (129,953) (278,517)
Bank loan interest paid B IRITE RF A (238,260) (365,708)
Net cash generated from financing REETEMERES T
activities 32,942,579 2,718,643
Net increase/(decrease) incashandcash HE&RE LS EYE M~
equivalents GRA) ZE4m 25,245,481 (424,938)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes G BE FE =R & B 1Y) 52 28 (3,516,423) 88,558
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning Hi £ REREE
of the period/year EEY 830,303 1,166,683
Cash and cash equivalents at end of B EXEERES
the period/year ZEY 22,559,361 830,303
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEBYIN
Bank and cash balances RITERRESEH 22,559,361 830,303
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General information

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 November 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time. The address of its registered
office is Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1008 Cayman Islands. The principal place of business
of the Company is located at Unit D2, 5/F, Hoi Bun Industrial
Building, 6 Wing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the provision of visual display solution services for concerts and
events and information technology consultation services primarily in
Hong Kong, Macau, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
and Taiwan (the “Business”). The Company'’s shares were listed on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing”) on 14 June 2017.

Adoption of new and revised Hong Kong
financial reporting standards

In the current period, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") that are relevant to its operations and effective for its
accounting period beginning on 1 June 2022. HKFRSs comprise
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption
of these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant
changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the
Group's consolidated financial statements and amounts reported
for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the impact of these new and revised
HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these new and
revised HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results of
operations and financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Significant accounting policies

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are carried
at their fair values.

During the period, the Group changed its financial year end date
from 31 May to 31 December in order to align its financial year end
date with that of the Company’s principal subsidiaries incorporated
in the PRC, which are statutorily required to prepare their accounts
with the financial year end date of 31 December. The current
period consolidated financial statements cover a seven-month
period ended 31 December 2022, the comparative financial
statements cover a twelve months period ended 31 May 2022 and
an unaudited comparative financial statements cover a five-month
period ended 31 May 2022. The comparative amounts are therefore
not entirely comparable.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise their judgements
in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to these consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 4 to these consolidated
financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to
determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise that
right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
subsidiary and any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a
subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent
consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the
acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of
the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase which is attributed to the Company.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured
at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
("functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong Dollars (HK$), which is the
Company’s presentation currency. The functional currency of
the Company is HK$ and Renminbi (“RMB”). The directors
consider that choosing HK$ as the presentation currency best
suits the needs of the shareholders and investors.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in profit
or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
other comprehensive income, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e I mRERN T (E)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that
have a functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and

(i) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over the
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful
lives are as follows:

Visual display equipment

FESHHE@Wm

Y3 - BE R RE @

ME BMELRREBEWEDZEAEL
i 51 7T {52 P 7 20 70 3 85 L A A Ok U R
BENNERAERAFE - T2
ERFEHET :

8 years or over the duration of the event, where appropriate

REFETRE BFEHNEBHAN(NEE)
Furniture and other equipment 4 years

AR R o Ath 3% 45

Motor vehicles 3-5 years

TE 3ES5F

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term
HEEE RIEER

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

The gain or loss on disposal of plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the
Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The
principal lease terms are as follows:

— Premises 1-3 years
— W% —E=F
— Office equipment 1-3 years
—WRRE —==#
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of
the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the lease payments discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be
determined, or otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease term
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an
initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets
of value below US$5,000.

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the risks
and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as operating
leases. Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained control on
the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised at
fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost; and

—  Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

(@) Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3. Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading
as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the equity
investment revaluation reserve. On derecognition of an
investment, the cumulative gains or losses previously
accumulated in the equity investment revaluation reserve are
not reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
("ECL") on financial assets at amortised cost. ECL are the weighted
average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default
occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the ECL
that result from all possible default events over the expected life of
that financial instrument (“lifetime ECL") for trade receivables, or if
the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses (Continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime ECL that represents the ECL that result from
default events on that financial instrument that are possible within
12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of ECL or reversal to adjust the loss allowance at the
end of the reporting period to the required amount is recognised in
profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Bank and cash balances

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as
a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
For a contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied
over time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;
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3. Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Employee benefits

(@) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up
to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(9]

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF Scheme™)
in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also participates in a defined contribution
retirement scheme organised by the government in the PRC.
The Group is required to contribute a specific percentage of
the payroll of its employees to the retirement scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the retirement
scheme. No forfeited contributions may be used by the
employers to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
and involves the payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing
the performance of the Group's various lines of business.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —Z=——&%—x&#% 109

ARe IS AR BT AT ()

FESTHE@Wm

BIH ()

EEHBEEERRERMBAREL
MERNESEZZER EEAKH
AEFESERNRLOREREZRA
EERARERT S D 25N AR
R

EEHIEEENEE MBS RS R
KIS BEREA G T R
B I g (21 2 55 % 85 9 4 B B 1E
-

nE

OH]

B FE R I8 T LA R 3R 45 HA K AT B Il %€ 2%
ABEEHEMHEBELE  LTEH
REEBSEXEEERBEANNE
AREFE - BELEHIEERNERNRE
R EMEEMEEKNEEBRIEE
SEEREmTER  AZELERIE
NeRnEME2EREsNBRIEER
RERFER

EEBBEEERBBENFERBRAE
EEMNRERARAKOKEERLE
ERBBEREENTAMELENHRG

+
r%l:l 3

BEERAEERAFEERERN AR
BEERBEBAARN ERIEHEKE
BB RE—HBKE kA E
RAFBREBNRRAEE REHH
BT FAEMEEH-

2| E

MBEBRRONELEDHREDHLEEB K
EHEBDEEHRRTAEE TR
BIEEABUDEE TR M A R E A
SEREBOHRRA -



Notes to the Conso

=
)

B 75 R 2R B = (A8)

3. Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of productions processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(a)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Company are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Second Annual Report 2022

idated Financial Statements (Continued)

RMBHEBNMS  ENEELE
DEHIEERAE2MR BRIFLFIDAA
BEREUKRBERE  AREEMERSE
ME SERFME TPEAEXE
A DHEMIIRERBARANT
AREERREE 7 EBLL - 1@ 5
FBEANKLYRMAREAR LR

B ER AR SREEE -

BAEE TS
BB ARAREEWENEALE
e

@@ fMBATAL BIZALTHZA
TZORBASEERE:

() EHHAREHAEE :
(i) HAEEBEARE %X

(i) ARARAHIARRFEF QT
WEFEEEEKE -

(b) (WA THIEMR G - BIE 88
REBRRE:

(i
F-HEBATRRAZHEA
FAE R ERE) -

i) —"HEBA> ERNK
ERBEIHAERRE(HS—
ERBARKERAMNEEIE
THRERBZBERA K

BERXE)-

(i) MEEERHRR—-—F=7

i}

ivv —HERBRE=7

\;

S T
o AF i@
N

BELE ME—ERE
FZTEBNBEQR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Company or to a parent of the Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets except deferred tax asset, investments
and receivables to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-generating
unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period or
those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate
are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

Critical judgements and key estimates

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt
with below.

Consolidation of entity of less than 50% equity interest
Although the Group owns less than 50% of the equity interest in
Shenzhen Xinhang Information Technology Company Limited
(“Shenzhen Xinhang”), Shenzhen Xinhang is treated as a subsidiary
because the Group is able to control the relevant activities of
Shenzhen Xinhang as a result of the shareholders’ agreement
between the Group and other shareholders of Shenzhen Xinhang.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.
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4. Critical judgements and key estimates (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(@]

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives, and
related depreciation charge for its property, plant and
equipment. The estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions, the durability, the
expected repairs and maintenance and the future demand of
equipment. Management will increase the depreciation
charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
useful lives. It will write off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and therefore affect the depreciation charge in future periods.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined with
reference to the present value of estimated future cash flows.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected or there
are unfavourable events and change in facts and circumstance
which result in revision of future estimate cash flows, a
material impairment loss may arise.

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and
other receivables and contract assets, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each
debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
actual result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the trade and
other receivables and loan receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been
changed. If the financial conditions of the debtors were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. Critical judgements and key estimates (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

5. Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to United States dollars (“US$"), Macau
Patacas (“MOP"”) and Renminbi (“RMB"). Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not
the Group entities’ functional currency.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, US$ is
reasonably stable with HK$ under the Linked Exchange Rate
System, and accordingly, the Group considers the foreign
exchange risk is low and no sensitivity analysis is performed
relative to US$.
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Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2022 and 31 May 2022, if RMB had
weakened/strengthened by 5% against HK$ with all other
variables held constant, profit (31 May 2022: loss) for the
period/year ended 31 December 2022 would have been
approximately HK$211,314 higher/lower (31 May 2022:
HK$233,356 lower/higher), mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains on translation of payables denominated in
RMB.

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of cash at banks, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets.

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject
to the expected credit loss models:

. Trade receivables; and

. Other financial assets carried at amortised cost.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables of the Group represent amounts due from
reputable companies in the entertainment industry and
e-commerce industry. The Group has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The Group measures the expected credit losses on a
combination of both individual and collective basis.
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5. Financial risk management (Continued) 5. LElEREE @

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EER K @)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis

Expected credit losses also estimated by grouping the
receivables based on similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking into
account the customers’ ageing category and historical
payment profiles, and applying the expected credit loss rates
to the respective gross carrying amounts of the receivables.

The expected credit loss rates were determined based on
historical default rates and were adjusted to the effects of
current market conditions as well as forward looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as “net
impairment loss on trade receivables” within operating loss.
When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for receivables. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group’s other financial assets carried at amortised cost
include bank and cash balance, deposits and other receivables
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
impairment loss of other financial assets carried at amortised
cost is measured based on the 12-month expected credit loss.
The 12-month expected credit loss is the portion of lifetime
expected credit loss that results from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within twelve months
after the reporting date. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime expected credit loss.

Management considered the credit risk of deposits and other
receivables as low as the counterparties have the capacity to
meet their contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.
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Notes to the Conso
e RRNEE(E)

5. Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

(Continued)

The majority of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are
deposited in major financial institutions located in Hong
Kong, Macau and the PRC which are of high credit rating.
Management does not expect any losses arising from non-

performance by these financial institutions.

The majority of the Group’s rental deposits are placed with
various landlords in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, and are
due to refund upon the expiry of the tenancy agreements and
handover of the leased premises. The Group has not

experienced any defaults by the landlords.

The majority of the Group’s rental deposits for equipment are
placed with various reputable companies in Hong Kong and
the PRC, and are due to refund upon the termination of
equipment rental contracts and return of the leased visual
display equipment. The Group has not experienced any

defaults by the counterparties.

The receivables from newly acquired subsidiary’s former
shareholders are closely monitored by the directors of the
Company. Management does not expect any loss arising from

the borrower.

Therefore, the Group has assessed that the expected credit
losses for these financial assets carried at amortised costs
were close to zero under 12-month expected losses method,

and therefore no provision was recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR M EE ()

5. Financial risk management (continued) 5. SEEREE @
(c) Liquidity risk () RBES R
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and AREBNKEATHERRIRA
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains LREHneSESER  UERE
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in “iE R R IR S B DA FE A HE
the short and longer term. LEHHNRHEESENK -
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flow, of HERKRUEBRBESREM2%AE
the Group'’s financial liabilities is as follows: EemaENEBEImAT
Within
1 year/ Between Between
repayable 1 and 2 and
on demand 2 years 5 years Total
R/
RERMEE 1Z22F 2E5F wEt
HKS$ HKS$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT

At 31 December 2022 =T ==

+=-—A=+-—~H

Amount due to JE S R B 5 3R0E

a related party 37,294,025 — — 37,294,025
Trade payables Z 5 S 58 165,467 — — 165,467
Other payables and H b S A K

accrued liabilities et B fE 52,218,763 — — 52,218,763
Lease liabilities HESE 4,043,943 423,175 20,434 4,487,552
Bank borrowings and  $R{TE R R iE

overdrafts 10,055,674 — — 10,055,674

103,777,872 423,175 20,434 104,221,481
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Notes to the Conso

idated Financial Statements (Continued)

AL AT £ 2
iR RS R M aE (B
5. Financial risk management (Continued) 5. @RERERE @)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) () REBES A @
Repayable on Between Between
demand or 1 and 2 and
less than 1 year 2 years 5 years Total
RERER
H—FRN 1&22F PELES #Et
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT &I BT T
At 31 May 2022 R-m=——
EHA=+-—H
Amount due to FE 1< BB B 75 3R IR
a related party 4,331,226 — — 4,331,226
Other payables and H b EMAFRIER
accrued liabilities st B & 19,293,959 — — 19,293,959
Lease liabilities HEEaE 3,136,486 1,673,184 213,391 5,023,061
Bank borrowings and  $R{TE R R E X
overdrafts 12,089,441 — — 12,089,441
38,851,112 1,673,184 213,391 40,737,687

(d) Interest rate risk (d) F == ks

RZZEZZF+ZHA=+—8EFK
T _FRA=1+—8 ' BiZ
/?@Jj:”—v—u #E'JfETTfﬁ%&fETT
B ARIEETE N EFTERHIRT
BRI NREBITEEATES
BMEENBE - AEEMNRITR
& MEFRBREA S - EBR
HT AR E - l% % & 5E A
EHEMNRITERERNEE @R
N EFERR -

At 31 December 2022 and 31 May 2022, the Group does not
have any interest bearing financial assets or liabilities except
for cash at banks and bank overdrafts at floating rates and
bank borrowings at fixed rates. The Group’s cash at banks
earns interest at low interest rates, which are not significant.
Hence, bank borrowings at fixed rates are what expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2022 and 31 May 2022, the directors of the RZE-_—_F+=-HA=+—8H
Company consider that the interest rate risk in relation to the rF—_ZE-_—_F#FHA=+—H 'K
Group's cash at banks and bank borrowings is not significant ANBEEERAE ARARFEHHIR
as the fluctuation of the interest rates are minimal. N EAREBMETRS RIETT

EREENNERARE TEKX -

120 In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Second Annual Report 2022



5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR M EE ()

Financial risk management (Continued) cREREE®
(e) Categories of financial instruments e) EMIEBENDSE
As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
iy S
—ECZ_F = Tl
+=A=t—-8 HFA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Financial assets: EHMEE:
Equity investments fair value through 3% 2 FE 5+ A H fth 2 Uk 25
other comprehensive income MR E 33,512,821 =
Financial assets at amortised cost REERATEEN S/ EE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (B#ER & KIREEEY) 200,852,612 11,340,903
Financial liabilities: EREE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IR AV EN SR A E 103,272,493 39,944,911
(f) Fair value ) 2¥E

Except as disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their respective
fair values.

BREAMBHRRMEMRES
SN KRB B RS AR R BTN B AR &R
BeRmEEMERARNEREEE
HEEEMAFEBES -
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(Continued)

ire WS R M AT ()

6. Fair value measurements 6. A¥EE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid NEBEATELEENS S B HET

to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market MEERZPLEESEMKESER

participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of BEMYSNHER L TAFEHEE

fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises WEEARFANATLEREEIRA U

into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure EANTENHEAEMERANEG AR

fair value: BorBE=EE%

Level 1 inputs:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for B — Mg A z]s EENTEFE A E
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can B SEWMEREEZEBER
access at the measurement date. ,E BHiEs i RE (K&H

) -

Level 2 inputs:  inputs other than quoted prices included within FE-_MEA BE LB SHHRE
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, B Gh BES BB E
either directly or indirectly. Rig ANER (T BEEK

f#) -
Level 3 inputs:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. S A BEIEBENITER

B# B AEF

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of NREBNRELARIAB TS HRKB L
any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in AHEmE NI A= AR E AR
circumstances that caused the transfer. B ES o
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December: @ Rt+-_BA=+—RABRAFEESR
B AR BIHR R
Fair value
measurements
using:
FEANTER
AEATE:
Description Level 3
# B BE=ZR
HK$
BT
Recurring fair value measurements: REMEDNFENE:
Equity investments at fair value through other BEAFEFAEME2EKER
comprehensive income EDmEE
— Private equity investments —LERERE 33,512,821

"

Hﬁl

Total recurring fair value measurements EEMRATFEAELE 33,512,821
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6.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Fair value measurements (Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation of assets and liabilities measured at fair value
based on level 3:

6.

%= A

NN

(b)

A MR M ot (48

AT EFE @

EE=QRATEFENEERE
EHER ¢

Equity
investments at
fair value
through other
comprehensive

Description income
BRAOFETA
Hib2EWKEW
e ERRE
HKS$
BT
At 1 June 2022 RZBE-__FxA—H —
Total gains or losses recognised in other A HL th 2 T UK %5 B R A M e sk
comprehensive income 518 4258 (267,179)
Acquisition of a subsidiary W EEH B A A 34,688,000
Exchange gain P& X Uz (908,000)
At 31 December 2022 R=—-ZBE-_—_F+=-H=+—H 33,512,821

The total gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive
income are presented in other reserve in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and
valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2022:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required for
financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements. The financial controller reports directly to the
board of directors for these fair value measurement.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held
between the financial controller and the board of directors at
least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage an independent professional valuer with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent experience
to perform the valuations.
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(Continued)

= A
AR e BT IS R I EE ()
6. Fair value measurements (Continued) 6. DNFETTEw@m
() (Continued) (© (#&)
Level 3 fair value measurements FE=RMAFEFTE
Effect on
fair value for Fair value
increase 31 December
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs 2022
i
BARE  —®o=F
HAYE t-A=t-H
B b E & i TUBEBRAER #E HEZ AF¥E
HK$
BT
Private equity investment classified as Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 33,512,821
equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income
PERBRATEFAEMZANE HHEETE NER NER NER

NEZRENLERERE

Segment information

For the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment, the chief operating decision maker (i.e. the chief
executive of the group) reviews the overall results and financial
position of the Group, which are prepared based on the same
accounting policies set out in note 3.

The Group has two reportable segments as follows:

Provision of visual display solution services segment — engaged in
visual display solutions services for concerts and events and
equipment central income;

Information technology consulting services — engaged in one-stop
technical consulting services and solutions for e-commerce business
platforms; and the metaverse technology business.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that
offer different products and services. They are managed separately
because each business requires different technology and marketing
strategies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Segment information (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
those described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Information about reportable segment profits or losses, assets and

Yn A
w3

B 7% R 2k B = ()

7. DEER @)

RESANEBRREGAVHTRE
ff £ 3P st & AE R o

AmEsHMEDR EERABEHERBE

liabilities:

Information
Visual display  technology
solution consulting
services services Total
REET BRI
R RRIE TS ot
HK$ HK$ HK$
B IT BT B IT
For the period ended BEr_—_F - —4F
37 December 2022 +=—A=+—HIHRH
Revenue from external customers 4 28 &= 5 U 25 20,772,539 19,465,721 40,238,260
Segment (loss)/profit D E(EE), R T (9,075,447) 16,542,337 7,466,890
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BMEREXEITE
and equipment 10,673,583 — 10,673,583
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1% 31 & FE 4T & 1,725,273 149,344 1,874,617
Interest revenue B W A 722 — 722
Interest expense FEREXZ (360,497) (7,716) (368,213)
Income tax credit/(expenses) mEHRE R (%) 713,308 (774,402) (61,094)
Additions to segment REDEIERBEE
non-current assets 3,958,919 522,705 4,481,624
For the year ended 31 May 2022 #Z —F = —4F
BA=T—HIFEE
Revenue from external customers  4h 28 &= 5 U 25 20,347,460 — 20,347,460
Segment loss o EBEE (24,409,288) —  (24,409,288)
Depreciation of property, plant W BEREBEITE
and equipment 19,271,456 - 19,271,456
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {3 FA & & E #7 & 2,975,839 — 2,975,839
Interest revenue F B WA 496 - 496
Interest expense MBERAX (644,225) — (644,225)
Income tax credit PG iR % 567,617 — 567,617
Additions to segment REDEHIERBEE
non-current assets 15,399,683 — 15,399,683
As at 31 December 2022 REZE—=F L= 5= FRgE
Segment assets DEEE 83,109,552 244,284,818 327,394,370
Segment liabilities Pal =R 97,167,881 9,496,882 106,664,763
As at 31 May 2022 R-ZFEZZ—FAA=+—H
Segment assets DEEE 87,457,044 — 87,457,044
Segment liabilities DEEE 41,517,675 = 41,517,675
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

re s maR M EE (8

8. Revenue 8. W#x:
Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and WS IRE RGBT AFTERS &
receivable from provision of visual display solution services, BHAREAAREHO S U & E KR
information technology consulting services and equipment rental UEHBEEHERKAHNATEE K& @
income. An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follow: Mk T :
1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to 1/1/2022 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022 31/5/2022
—E-= R = s ==B==
%\H_EE /\)E] E|:|: _H_E]:ZF:
—E=-= —_ T TER T
+=-HBA=+—H 58 == AA=+—H
HKS$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
(unaudited)
(R EZ)
Revenue from visual display RKERGERER
solution services GEY: b ol 20,353,539 19,424,061 3,969,142
Revenue from information REEAREEA
technology consulting services Pk 7 B9 Y 2= 19,465,721 — —
Equipment rental income HEHRERA 419,000 923,399 101,801
40,238,260 20,347,460 4,070,943
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR M EE ()

8. Revenue (Continued) 8. Wz @)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: REEZEFNESHWESHMA :
For the period ended 31 December 2022 BE—_ZE_—_F#+_-_H=+—HItHH
Information
Visual display technology
solution consulting
services services Total
REHETR EABE
fRR T R IR 5 o AR A et
HK$ HK$ HK$
B 7T B 7T BT
Revenue: W25 -
Hong Kong FE 16,901,784 — 16,901,784
PRC R 555,652 19,465,721 20,021,373
Macau B FY 194,733 — 194,733
Others H b 3,120,370 — 3,120,370
20,772,539 19,465,721 40,238,260

Timing of revenue recognition U 25 78 AR B R

At a point in time H— B 2L —_ 19,465,721 19,465,721
Over time & B sl 20,772,539 — 20,772,539
Total 45t 20,772,539 19,465,721 40,238,260
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e IR ERNEE(8)

8. Revenue (Continued) 8. Wz @)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: REEZEFNESHWSIHMA : (8)
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 May 2022 BE-—ZE-_—fFHA=1+—HIEE
Visual display
Geographic information i & & B solution service
REETR
R IR
HK$
BT
Revenue: s
Hong Kong F5 14,361,869
PRC 8] 1,889,591
Macau YR 3,886,000
Others H1ib 210,000
20,347,460
Timing of revenue recognition W EREE
1/6/2021 to
31/5/2022
= m—=aE
NA—HZE
—g=-=
AA=+—H
HK$
BT
At a point in time K —EHEE —
Over time W B R 20,347,460
Total #BEt 20,347,460
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR M EE ()

8. Revenue (Continued) 8. Wz um

The Group’s non-current assets other than equity investments at NEBIERHEE(BHAFEET AR
fair value through other comprehensive income were located as MEEWENEZEERINMART

follows: Hl| 4 &
As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022

—E-CF —F-—
+=A=t—-8 HEA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT T
Non-current assets: FMEEE

Hong Kong BB 59,617,848 66,079,387
PRC A3 7,459,327 8,040,078
Macau B P 700,827 1,044,843
67,778,002 75,164,308
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e IR ERNEE(8)

8. Revenue (Continued) 8. W= um
Information about major customers EBREXEEFHNEH

RE/ SR HAEEBKERI0%K
UNEMERPZEMEREMT

Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for 10% or
more of the Group’s total revenue during the period/year is as

130

follows:
1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to 1/1/2022 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022 31/5/2022
—E-= === =EE = T EE
ANA—HE NAH—BZE —HA—B=%
—_Eg=-= == = —_=_=
+=—A=+—-A AA=+—HB FHA=+—H
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT T T
(unaudited)
(REER)
Customer A ZPA 13,823,086 N/ATE A N/ANE A
Customer B =FB N/ATRIE A * 5,677,000 1,080,000
% The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of * HEN KXY EAAEBBIKRSTE 10%
the Group BAE o

Revenue from visual display solution services

Revenue from visual display solution services is recognised over the
show or event period of a project as customers have simultaneously
received and consumed the benefits provided by the Group’s
services. Revenue is recognised using the output method by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation, which is directly measured by the value of
each show or event being performed.

A performance obligation is a contractual promise to transfer a
distinct good or service to a customer and is the unit of account
under HKFRS 15. Contracts of the Group include various services
which is integrated into a single deliverable and are therefore
generally accounted for as a single performance obligation.

The Group derives revenue primarily under fixed price contracts. If
at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated to
exceed the remaining amount of the consideration under the
contract, then a provision is recognized.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR M EE ()

8. Revenue (Continued) 8. W= m
Revenue from information technology consulting R B EMB R E R KR
services
The Group provides information technology consulting services to AEBREBFERMESENE AR
the customers. Information technology consulting service fee o BRI DRSS W ARIEMH
income is recognised when the information technology consulting EBARBEZARBERER SR 1F
service is rendered and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could HEREESRENRBITERT -

affect the customer’s acceptance of the service.

9. Otherincome 9. HWA
1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to 1/1/2022 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022 31/5/2022
—E-= = = =4F S =
ANAE—RHZE NAH—BZE A —=1[E =
—_Eg=-= - — - —
+=—A=+—-8 ®EA=+—HB HA=+—H
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT T BT
(unaudited)
(REEEZR)
Government grants (Note) B 7S #78 B (Bf 5) 652,832 273,798 80,000
Equipment repairment, technical BB Blisia#
consultancy, project management  JH B BIEUW A K&
income and sales of equipment W E 1,456,509 2,683,781 678,890
Others Hib 25,214 — —
2,134,555 2,957,579 758,890
Note: Government grants represented subsidies obtained from the Employment ek : RIS ABIEE A BB ERITHREBRFRB
Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative 2B EEHHERERE R RBM
Region and subsidies obtained from the local governments in Mainland China b5 BT B R #E AL - LA BY AN £ B M B
and Macau to subsidise the operating costs of the Group’s subsidiaries. There NAEIREEA - REEXR - ZE®E
were no unfulfilled conditions attached to these grants as at the end of the 7 42 i 5 R 32 KA1
period/year.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —ZE=——F%=xF®% 131



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e M BRRNE(E)

10. Other losses, net 10. HEIEF 8
1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to 1/1/2022 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022 31/5/2022
—E=-= — T —%F =e3==
~A—HZE NA—HBZE —A—H=E
—EC-C —EF =85==
+=A=+—8 H#A=+—H HA=1+—H
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
(unaudited)
(REEZ)
Exchange losses, net bE N E R (114,505) (247,076) (218,593)
Government subsidies X 8 B 1,712 — —
Others H A (66,313) — =
(179,106) (247,076) (218,593)
11. Finance costs 1. B A
1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to 1/1/2022 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022 31/5/2022
—E-= =R = ===
/\H_E|§ /_\)E]_E|§ _H_Efz
- g — —_=__ ="
+=A=+—8B ®HA=+—H HA=1+—H
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
(unaudited)
(REEZ)
Interest on bank borrowings 1T 18 K F B 238,260 365,708 167,375
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEME 129,953 278,517 102,400
Finance costs B 75 Ak 2N 368,213 644,225 269,775
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

12. Income tax (expense)/credit

%= A

NN

A M RR M AT ()

12. FIEHR (X)) &

1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to 1/1/2022 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022 31/5/2022
—E=-= =2 == =E==
AAE—HZE ~NA—HBZE —RA—H=E
—_=E-= —ET=-= = — —
+=—A=+—-8 HAA=+—H HA=+—H
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT B IT 75 JT
(unaudited)
(RE&EZ)
Current tax — PRC Enterprise BN IE —h B
Income Tax (“EIT”) and other e R ([ %
jurisdictions PSH]) R H A
AlEHE R (774,402) a e
Deferred income tax (Note 28) iR SE P15 A0 (BT 5 28) 713,308 567,617 359,325
(61,094) 567,617 359,325

During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022 and year
ended 31 May 2022, no Hong Kong profits tax has been provided
for as the Group did not generate any estimated assessable profit.

The companies of the Group established in the PRC are subject to
the PRC corporate income tax at the rate of 25% for the seven-
month period ended 31 December 2022. During the year ended 31
May 2022, no PRC corporate income tax has been provided for as
the Group did not generate any estimated assessable profit.

Companies incorporated and operating in Macau are subject to
Macau complementary tax, under which taxable income of up to
MOP600,000 is exempted from taxation with amounts beyond this
amount to be taxed at a fixed rate of 12% for the seven-month
period ended 31 December 2022 and year ended 31 May 2022.
During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022 and year
ended 31 May 2022, no Macau complementary tax have been
provided for as the Group did not generate any estimated
assessable profit.

HE_T_—_F#+-_A=+—81L
+tEAHEMEEE S -_—_FHA
=+ BUHEFE BARAEETEE

AR A RS A BRI G R
FRNEGHEE -

BE_ZE_—_HF#+t_A=1— E|JJ:‘t
BAHE AEBEFRHKIAA
BT E25% B B XTS5 ﬁ°
HE_T_—_F#RAA=+—BL#HE
B AEELEE S TG ERM
A - MR B B B XTSRRI
B -

ERMFMA R E BN R R AN
B SHER Bt RBEEZZ
&+ A=+—HLtt@AHE
B == = = = FiH = - el
& ' & %600,00038 P ¥ 1) fE &R B I
ANER BT - BHLEEINIZETE
RERRBHR - BE_T-__F+=
BA=+—HIE+t@EABEREE_-Z
——HFFA=1+—"BHLEE XE£E

WEEEFEMNMGTERT RA - BR
BIRPIFMGE AT IREE -
In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —Z=—F%—/%x&® 133



(Continued)

ire WS R M AT ()

12. Income tax (expense)/credit (Continued) 12. FiIBH (X)) E&Ew@m
Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the Hith 5 ERB AR IE i ANE
applicable rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the BEREMmERFZFERRBITMNERD
Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and KRB EEBREEE 2ELEME
practices in respect thereof. &
The taxation on the loss before income tax differs from the |§§é FrEMAEBENHEBAERNERSE
theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of Hong EMERAEREERSTE WA TR:

Kong as follows:

1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to 1/1/2022 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022 31/5/2022
—E=-= —E-—%F —E-=
ANA—BE NA—HZE —HA—B=%
—ECZCF —E—_— —_ET-—
+=—A=+—-8B HA=+—H HA=+—8H
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
(unaudited)
(REEEZR)
Profit/(loss) before tax MR RS A (B 8E) 7,527,984 (24,976,905) (15,811,409)
Calculated at a taxation rate of R E16.5% &
16.5% 1,242,117 (4,121,189) (2,608,883)
Effect of different tax rates for NG ENEE S
different countries za 612,868 375,397 237,642
Tax effect of income not taxable for H 78 @&t g A 2 5t 18
tax purpose -4 (1,980,993) — —
Tax effect of expenses not A F S 2 BiIE
deductible for tax purpose =4 104,357 319,829 202,465
Tax effect of estimated tax losses 7k # 32/t 5+ 1 18 5 18
not recognised TR 167,797 3,051,864 1,931,956
Utilisation of previously ) A AR R R T IE
unrecognised tax loss BB (85,052) (193,518) (122,505)
Income tax expense/(credit) FrEfR (AR, Ee 61,094 (567,617) (359,325)
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ire MR M EE ()

13. Profit/(loss) for the period/year 13. B/ FREF,(EE)
1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to 1/1/2022 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022 31/5/2022
—Eg=-C —E-—F =R ==
ANA—RHZE 75 B —ElZE —H—B=%
—EC-C —EF T F

+=-—A=+—-8 H=A=+—H =HA=+—H
HKS$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT

(unaudited)

(RIEEZ)

The Group's profit/(loss) for the KEEH FR

period/year is stated after i L (B 18) Th i

charging the following: ks T 5% IE 51 Bk
Auditor's remuneration 1% & 6l B 720,000 650,000 125,000
Cost of equipment and spare parts =& & & B2 14 ik A 294,599 383,754 130,760
Directors’ remuneration (note 14) &= & B (55 14) 1,828,005 1,925,648 824,635
Other staff costs: Hihfe B~ :

Salaries and other benefits H e REMER 7,785,364 6,659,734 2,689,918

Retirement benefit schemes BARAE FIET B R

contributions 770,048 1,313,602 516,804

Total staff costs EEXAREE 10,383,417 9,898,984 4,031,357

Depreciation of property, plantand #13% « B E M %
equipment e 10,673,583 19,271,456 8,179,431
Depreciation of right-of-use assets A& = E 1,874,617 2,975,839 1,212,195
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(Continued)

ire WS R M AT ()

14. E - TRARKRES H M

14. Directors’, chief executive’s and employees’
emoluments

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

() EERITHARTH
ENRENARRES RITHE

The emoluments paid or payable to directors and chief

executive of the Company are as follows: HWEMOT
Salaries,
other  Retirement
allowance scheme
Fee and benefits contributions Total
e
HAMRE R BIRGHE
bk B 3 #at
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Ma Lie (Chairman of the Board) HZl%k 4 (FE=e )
(appointed on 11 May 2022) (M=—=T=-=
TA+—BEZF) — 439,726 — 439,726
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis B
(Chief Executive Officer) (TR 8 %0) — 714,140 10,500 724,640
Mr. Tam Chun Yu BEFEE — 342,650 9,975 352,625
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling (appointedon  3R¥¥ 7+ (R T ==
17 November 2022) +T—ATEBREZE) 14,795 — — 14,795
Independent non-executive BYKHTES
directors
Mr. Ji Gui Bao (appointed on KEBLEEWRZ-_Z-_=F
11 May 2022) AA+—BEZME) 70,356 - 70,356
Mr. Cui Hai Bin (appointed on EBEEE(RZT=Z
11 May 2022) FA+—BEZME) 70,356 — 70,356
Mr. Chen Yue (appointed on BRBEE(RZT-_=
11 May 2022) FA+—BEZME) 70,356 — 70,356
Ms. Jiang Yu E (appointed on EZXHat(R=-T=_=
11 May 2022) AA+—BEZME) 70,356 - 70,356
Mr. Li Xiao Hua (appointed on TEELA(R_T =
17 November 2022) +—R+tBEZM) 14,795 — 14,795
Total for period ended BE-_R__Ff+—A1
31 December 2022 =t+-—BLEHEAG 311,014 1,496,516 1,828,005
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14. Directors’, chief executive’s and employees’ 14. EF  THABKEE FH
emoluments (Continued) (%)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

() EERITHAREFM @

(Continued)

Salaries,
other Retirement
allowance scheme
Fee and benefits  contributions Total
e
Ho )2 8E R RIRETE
ok & 7l T #at
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT 7T BT BT
Executive directors BITES
Mr. Ma Lie (Chairman of the Board) BZI%k 4 (EHE& FE)
(appointed on 11 May 2022) (===
TA+—HEZME) — 42,339 — 42,339
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis s T A
(Chief Executive Officer) (fTER 8 %) — 1,224,240 18,000 1,242,240
Mr. Tam Chun Yu BEFRE — 328,950 15,023 343,973
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
Mr. Ji Gui Bao (appointed on EERE(WN=ZZT ==
11 May 2022) TA+—HEZE) 6,774 = o 6,774
Mr. Cui Hai Bin (appointed on EBEAE(R=T ==
11 May 2022) FA+—BEZME) 6,774 = = 6,774
Mr. Chen Yue (appointed on BREEERZTZZ
11 May 2022) AA+—BEZME) 6,774 = = 6,774
Ms. Jiang Yu E (appointed on ZEBr+(R=T==
11 May 2022) AR+ BEZM) 6,774 - 3 6,774
Mr. Li Kai Sing (resigned on FRAERSE(RZEZZ
11 May 2022) A+ —B#EE) 90,000 — — 90,000
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun (resigned on SRELXERZZ
11 May 2022) AA+—HET) 90,000 — — 90,000
Ms. Loh Lai Ping, Phillis BENYZT(R=ZT=Z
(resigned on 11 May 2022) AA+—HBHEME 90,000 == — 90,000
Total for year ended BE-=2-—F%
31 May 2022 ER=+—HLEFEHF 297,09 1,595,529 33,023 1,925,648
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A ISR (B

14. Directors’, chief executive’s and employees’ 14. EE  THABKEE FH
emoluments (Continued) (4#)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTHARTFN@®)

138

(Continued)

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits during the period (year ended 31 May 2022: Nil).

None of the directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the period (year ended 31 May 2022: Nil).

None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the period (year ended 31 May 2022: Nil).

During the period, the Company did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services (year
ended 31 May 2022: Nil).

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favor
of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors during the period (year ended 31
May 2022: Nil).

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the period or at any time during the period (year
ended 31 May 2022: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR M EE ()

14. Directors’, chief executive’s and employees’ 14. EF  THABKEE FH

emoluments (Continued) ()
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) & & ¥ M
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in NEFREBEE T _-_—4+_H
the Group for the period ended 31 December 2022 include =+—HI-EAE ﬁ‘jﬁ% E"%ﬁ@ﬂ
three directors (31 May 2021: two directors). The emoluments ATBE=Z2FF(2ZE— $
paid/payable to the five highest paid individuals are as follows: FA=+—H MEZEZ)-
ﬁ/%ﬁﬂ%%%ﬁ%Ai%M
2T
1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022
—E-CF _2_—¢
/\\ H - E z /\ )E] E ==
—_=2-= == =
+=ZA=+—H s = —E
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries and other benefits e & H bt T 2,078,441 2,384,910
Retirement benefit schemes contributions & 7K 48 7l 5t 21 fit 7% 40,076 77,996
2,118,517 2,462,906
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e MR TEE :
1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022
—E-—F —T=-—F
ANA—HZE NA—BZE
—=2-= EHE=
+=ZA=+—H B Ear—IE
Number of Number of
employees employees
EEB A EEAH
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T 5 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T =
1,500,000 7T — 1
5 5
During the period ended 31 December 2022 and year ended Bz = —4#+-_A=+—H
31 May 2022, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any It ERREE S - —F7 A
of the directors or other members of the five highest paid =t+—BItEE AEEHEMR
individuals as an inducement to join, upon joining the Group, EMEES A LGRS EHFMA LTS
leaving the Group or as compensation for loss of office. HWEMKESNME  EAK2

HEMALREE  MAXEEE -
BERM AN S B RE SR RER
fE -
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15. Dividends

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed by the Company for
the period ended 31 December 2022 (year ended 31 May 2022:

Nil).

16. Earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share is

(Continued)

(%)

15. K&

ARRBE_FT__F+_A=+—

B IFEARE I S - B R 3k sk BER T
AxE(BE_ZE-_—FRA=+—
BIEEFE : &) -

16. ERERN (Fi#E)

FREAREERN, (BB KRN

based on the following: T&EFE :
Earnings/(loss) BR(&8)
1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to 1/1/2022 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022 31/5/2022
—E=-= —EE = s —EE=
ANA—BE 7% A =S —H—B=E
—ECZCF =3 =FEFE==
+=—A=+—-HBH HA=+—H HA=+—8H
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
(unaudited)
(REEZR)
Earnings/(loss) for the purpose of METEERERRF,
calculating basic profit/(loss) (BER)MsNaRN~
per share (E18) 4,233,548 (24,243,425) (15,383,509)
Number of shares il =]
1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to 1/1/2022 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022 31/5/2022
—=2-= e -
ANA—HZE NH—E = — B —=EZ=
—E-= == == ===
+=—A=+—-HBH HA=+—H HA=+—8H
HK$ HK$ HK$
& T o BT
(unaudited)
(REEZ)
Weighted average number of METEERERRERN
ordinary shares for the purpose of  (JE538) i1 & &Y & i@
calculating basic earnings/(loss) 1% 0 4 - 35 &k
per share 800,000,000 800,000,000 800,000,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16. Earnings/(loss) per share (Continued)

17.

ire MR M EE ()

16. BRER (BA) @

No diluted earnings per share are present as the Company did not HE2E—_E_—_F+=-_A=+—HIH
have any dilutive potential ordinary shares during the period ended MEEE-_ZE_—_FRAABA=+—H1t

31 December 2022 and year ended 31 May 2022.

Non-controlling interests

FE -BARARBDALEEMELEEE
LAk wRE2eREEAT -

17. EERER

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have TEXBREEYHAEEEE A IEE
non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The s (TFFERERD OB R
summarised financial information represents amounts before inter- BE B BER KA T
company eliminations. BIH) & %8 o

Name Shenzhen Xinhang

2 B

Principal place of business/country of incorporation PRC

FTELEME SRR IER FE

% of ownership interests/voting rights held by NCI 77.1%

FERERHANMAEER RERBDL

HK$

BT
At 31 December 2022: NR-—-ZB-__—_F+—-_H=+—H":
Non-current assets EREBEE 34,035,526
Current assets ME)E E 210,143,239
Current liabilities mEAaE (22,923,311)
Net Assets BEFE 221,255,454
Accumulated NCI St IEE AR fE RS (70,610,080)
For the period ended 31 December 2022 BE-ZE-_—_F+-A=+—HILHH
Revenue I z= 19,465,721
Profit S A 4,060,795
Total comprehensive income %ﬁl&f‘?& 28 (1,900,724)
Profit allocated to NCI 2 JE I IS HE %5 A9 i A 3,130,873
Net cash generated from operating activities Z<<< % EEAEESFERE 12,878,680
Net cash generated from investing activities KETZEMEES FE 25,214
Net cash used in financing activities MEEHBIEESFE (13,151,680)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BehIReEBYHL FE (247,786)
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ire WS R M AT ()

18. Property, plant and equipment 18. ¥ -BKERZ®H
Furniture
and
Visual display other Motor Leasehold
equipment equipment vehicles improvements Total
REER HKER
®E  HtRE RE HERE st
HKS HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
cosT D%
At 1 June 2021 RZTE-—F,F—H 200926513 1,478,430 1,247,247 1,648,044 205,300,234
Additions NE 13,013,635 5,400 — — 13,019,035
Exchange difference fEH =% (133,992) (345) — (2,877) (137,214)
At 31 May 2022 and i
1 June 2022 AA=t—H8k
—E--—F,A—H 213,806,156 1,483,485 1,247,247 1,645,167 218,182,055
Additions NE 3,313,781 46,174 — — 3,359,955
Exchange differences fE N Z 5 (278,686) (2,239)  (104,922) (7,768) (393,615)

At 31 December 2022 R-ZE=——

+=—RA=+—H 216,841,251 1,527,420 1,142,325 1,637,399 221,148,395
ACCUMULATED RIHE
DEPRECIATION
At 1 June 2021 R-ZTE=-—%,xH—H 126,836,124 1,324,820 1,096,381 1,480,708 130,738,033
Charge for the year FERNTH 19,007,140 77,673 58,400 128,243 19,271,456
Exchange differences &N =% (54,918) (331) — (1,643) (56,892)
At 31 May 2022 and i, ——
1 June 2022 FA=+—HRK
—E-—#XXA—B 145788346 1,402,162 1,154,781 1,607,308 149,952,597
Charge for the period H A 57 10,586,283 33,779 34,067 19,454 10,673,583
Exchange differences b N E (104,039) (2,246)  (104,923) (6,039) (217,247)

At 31 December 2022 T e
+-—A=+—8H 156,270,590 1,433,695 1,083,925 1,620,723 160,408,933

CARRYING AMOUNT IREE
At 31 December 2022 RNR-ZE—-—
i = 5 = pauiEl 60,570,661 93,725 58,400 16,676 60,739,462

At 31 May 2022 i ——
T = el ] 68,017,810 81,323 92,466 37,859 68,229,458
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19. Right-of-use assets 19. FRAEEE
Disclosure of lease-related items: HEMEEERBENT
As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
i S
—E-—F —_ET-_—
+ZA=+—H AA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT T
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
— Premises — 3,713,422 4,499,988
— Office equipment St /N 33,618 —
3,747,040 4,499,988
The maturity analysis, based on NEBHEGBEREARITE
undiscounted cash flows, of the Group’s BERELNEIEE ST
lease liabilities is as follows: my
— Less than 1 year —1FR 4,043,943 3,136,486
— Between 1 and 2 years — 1525 423,175 1,673,184
— Between 2 and 5 years — 2 % 54E 20,434 213,391
4,487,552 5,023,061
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ire WS R M AT ()

19. Right-of-use assets (Continued) 19. FAEEE @)
1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022
—E=-= T —F
ANRA—BE NA—HBHZE
—_=2-= T el
+ZHB=+—H HFA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Period/year ended: i FR
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEERE
— Premises — Y E 1,872,217 2,973,119
— Office equipment /NS 2,400 2,720
1,874,617 2,975,839
Lease interests HERZD 129,953 278,517
Expenses related to short-term leases REHAERBERX 2,388,185 2,378,706
Cash outflow for leases FHEHEEZR®R
— Payments for short-term leases in — EEAERAMENREZ
respect of rental premises and RHEE 2 I®
equipment 2,388,185 2,378,706
— Payments of principal and interest —EEHEaEAE R
element of lease liabilities T B B8 2,034,843 3,252,201
4,423,028 5,630,907
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFREEE 1,121,669 2,380,648
The Group leases various premises and office equipment. Rental AREBHERBEYWERBEASFE
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 3 years. Lease EAHNETEHRE —MRREI1E3IF -
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide ERFLEBEEYY BEBSZRE
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do TRBEFRIEE - BEBAFRSEHEE
not impose any covenants other than the rental deposits in the BENHEEZRSI HEWS I &k
leased assets that are held by the lessors. Leased assets were not be MEMRZHE HELEETERHELRR
used as security for borrowing purposes. H o
There are no extension and termination options included in the HEAAYERSER K&K IFEIE
lease contracts. HE o
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20. Trade and other receivables, prepayments 20 EZRHMERKRRE BN
and deposits MEREZES
As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
i S
—E-F e = =
+=A=+-8B ®A=+-H
HK$ HK$
BT T
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIA 23,426,816 13,790,437
Less: allowance for bad and doubtful debts & : %i%,ﬂﬁﬁéﬁ (11,453,365) (9,614,247)
Trade receivables, net B 5 & W IE 5 58 11,973,451 4,176,190
Prepayments for purchase of equipment BERBHNENRIEA 2,105,041 1,972,934
Deposits for equipment rental RELEES 4,825,915 5,660,593
Other receivables, prepayment and deposits H b f& Ui 5X 18 - 78 1+ 5718 &
(note a) &% (fifsta) 27,320,455 1,947,562
Receivables from newly acquired JRE LSz Lt B B /BB A B BT AR R
subsidiary’s former shareholders (note b) FRIE (M 5ED) 159,757,500 —
205,982,362 13,757,279
Less: Non-current portion W IEREE D
Prepayments for purchase of EEREREMNNRE
equipment (2,105,041) (1,972,934)
Prepayments and rental deposits BRNREREERS (333,135) (321,912)
(2,438,176) (2,294,846)
Current portion mENE D 203,544,186 11,462,433
Notes: Bt 5
(@) The other receivables are mainly the IT services provider's prepayments (a) HERRIEEE AITRBEETESNTE
regarding the NFT virtual reality platform development. BMEEFTEHEEA-
(b) The receivables from newly acquired subsidiary’s former shareholders are fully (b) & Uk Uit B Y BB A ) Al AR B R IB E B AN iR
settled up to the date of this report. LHHEEEE-
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e IR ERNEE(8)

20. Trade and other receivables, prepayments 20 ESRHMEKRRE: BN
and deposits (Continued) RERRE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables, AREBZSLNEMERRIE - BNR
prepayments and deposits were denominated in the following BRIESHERMBEN TS EEEE
currencies:
As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
i S
—EBZCZHF T
+=-—A=+—8 FA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
HK$ BT 6,393,418 6,699,481
us$ X 4,804,704 4,013,168
EUR BX T 117,058 —
RMB AR 194,591,079 3,000,676
MOP Ak 76,103 43,954
205,982,362 13,757,279
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ire MR M EE ()

20. Trade and other receivables, prepayments 200 ESRHMEKWRE: BN
and deposits (Continued) MEREE @
(a) Trade receivables (a) EZEWRE

The Group's trade receivables are generally settled by cash on
delivery or credit period of 90 days after provision of services.
As at 31 December 2022 and 31 May 2022, the Group’s
ageing analysis of the gross trade receivables based on invoice
date is as follows:

AEENE D EUFIR-RER
B E MR RIOKRMIE R
HARBRSEE R_F-_—
1T F =apy EPEesE g — e

H=+—RB X&EBEREER
HI ) 48 & 55 IR W IR B i o0 AT 40

S &

As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
S i

—_=2-= -2
+t=A=+—-8 kil — S
HK$ HK$
BT BT
0-30 days 0E30K 2,961,716 1,291,105
31-60 days 31260XK 1,697,354 110,000
61-90 days 61 290K 444,213 994,000
Over 90 days BB 90K 18,323,533 11,395,332
23,426,816 13,790,437

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed
regularly.

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 May 2022, trade receivables
of HK$18,323,533 and HK$11,395,332 were past due
respectively, and impairment of trade receivables of HK$
11,453,365 (31 May 2022: HK$9,614,247) have been
provided for.

REXEAHRELZA AKH
EHEEERPMNEREERLE
EEPHEERE - AKEEE
Mg EFPnEERE -

A e RS JE == 5 R
sl s SRRl - — (Bl Bl
#18,323,533% Jr & 11,395,332
BILHESERZBEDHE I
BHiRE 5 e 3B R E B E
11,453,365 L (ZE=—_F A A
=+—H 961424787 °
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20. Trade and other receivables, prepayments 20 ESRHMEKRRE: BN
and deposits (Continued) MEREE @
(a) Trade receivables (Continued) (a) E 5 EWRE@E
Movement on the provision for impairment of trade B EWRIBREREGSN EE WM
receivables is as follows: T

As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022

—EBZCZF el T
+=—A=+—H 5= et
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
At beginning of the period/year Hi, & 9] 9,614,247 8,450,229
Provision for impairment for the period/year HB, 4 71 5 & £ & 1,839,118 1,164,018
At end of the period/year B F R 11,453,365 9,614,247

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to REBERBAMEREERFE
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected o VBt H R HIRTE R IZ B
loss provision for all trade receivables. In determining the B AFEBSEWZEFEFRS
expected credit losses for trade receivables, the management HATEHE B ERE NETE S5k
of the Group has taken into account the historical default WHIBHEBREEEEREE  ~&
experience and the future prospect of the industries and/or EEEELEZRFRTENLCH KL
considering various external sources of actual and forecast TEME kR XZESREER
economic information, as appropriate, in estimating the B2 K% FE H| B9 4% 75 3R 2 AN 2B Ak
probability of default of each of the trade receivables FB(nER) UGt 5EE 5k
occurring within their respective loss assessment time horizon, WHREBEBEEREAEBEETHEEE
as well as the loss upon default in each case. BlEEEANOREEARENIE

9& o
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20. Trade and other receivables, prepayments 200 ESRHMEKWRE: BN
and deposits (Continued) MEREE @
(a) Trade receivables (Continued) (a) E 3 EWRE @R
Current 1-90 91-180 181-365
(not yet days days days > 1 year
due) pastdue  pastdue pastdue  past due Total
BP 59 (i & an a8 By ay
Z8) 1Z90H 91Z180H 181Z365A HB1F Ast

At 31 December 2022 R=-—ZE=-—

+=A=+—-H
Weighted average nfEFHTEL
expected loss rate Jpi= 54% 43% 16% 22% 97%
Receivable amount (HK$) & Ut 018
(L) 5,103,283 976,358 2,793,526 8,306,031 6,247,618 23,426,816

Loss allowance (HK$) — E#E#EE(Bx) 2,742,505 419,720 438,735 1,796,472 6,055,933 11,453,365

At 31 May 2022 RZT=Z=%F
AA=+—H
Weighted average g8
expected loss rate Eiax 54% 42% 50% 60% 96%

Receivable amount (HK$) & U338 (B 7T) 2,395,105 1,245,049 3,151,411 1,265,727 5,733,145 13,790,437
Loss allowance (HK$) & #E#E & (BT) 1,284,582 527,467 1,562,419 754942 5,484,837 9,614,247

(b) Other receivables, prepayments and deposits (b) HtEWFIE - AR\
k&

Other receivables, prepayments and deposits mainly represent HEupElwziE BNZEEES
rental and utility deposits and prepayments for insurance and FTEEHAS LR ARRKEZS RE
maintenance and also the receivables from former b N 4 EFE S I8 - LA K& E UL A
shareholders. The Company has not provided for impairment BERERRB - HRNEBEARESGE
loss because the status of the subsequent settlement of the AR BT - ANARIRAEHIRBE
debtors is satisfactory. The Company does not hold any =R - A NN I - e E e
collateral over balances. HEFEEMIEER -
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Notes to the Conso
h= A

W N

21.

22.

B 75 i R M 7 (48

Equity investments at fair value through 2. RAFEFAHMEE KR
other comprehensive income MWESRE
As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
IS n
—E-_F e
+=ZB=+—H EA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT &I
Included in non-current assets STAERBEE
— Private equity investment — ERERE 33,512,821 —
The above investments are intended to be held for the medium to FEERESPRAZEE BT HBAIER

long term. Designation of these investments as equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income can avoid the
volatility of the fair value changes of these investments to profit or
loss.

Bank and cash balances

Bank and cash balances were denominated in the following
currencies:

B RRATE AL M2 E a0
BRATRRABRANAFELY
EHAH R -
22. SRITRBRE AR

RITNRESERTDIRATERE -

As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
I n
—E-_F T
+=A=+—H AA=+—8
HK$ HK$
BT BT
HK$ BT 3,743,204 647,508
RMB AR 18,616,695 111,991
Others Hib 199,462 70,804
22,559,361 830,303

Cash at banks earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated
in RMB were deposited with banks in Hong Kong and the PRC. The
conversion of the RMB denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to
the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated
by the Government of the People’s Republic of China.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR M EE ()

23. Trade payables 23. ESRENNIE

As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
—E-_F —_EFE-—
+=ZA=+—H AA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade payables B 5 E R 165,467 —

RBEMR ERBEZHHNNESE
NRBERE DT

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
—EZCF T
+t=ZA=+—8H HA=TF—8B
HK$ HK$
BT & TT
31-60 days 31E260K 4,565 —
Over 90 days B3890 K 160,902 —
165,467 —

24. Other payables and accrued liabilities

24 HihERREREFAE

As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
—EZCZHF —FT-=
+=-—A=+—H LG =aF ==
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Payables for equipment purchases g EENRIE 5,783,587 7,090,316
Equipment rental payable R ERES 4,333,370 4,494,735
Other accruals and payables Hih st & A R EMNKRIE 8,900,089 7,708,908
Other borrowings (note a) H & 5k (it 5t a) 33,201,717 ==
52,218,763 19,293,959
Note: B &
(@) The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and has no fixed repayment (@) EHZEAEERE. &8 8ERTE

terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e IS MR M R

24. Other payables and accrued liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 May 2022, the Group’s aging
analysis of the payables for equipment based on invoice date is as

follows:

24,

HtENRERESAEE
()

R_E_—_F+-_A=+—BER=_F
T —FRA=1+—H8 AEEERNHE
EHHAREENREARR S TWO
B

As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
i n
—E-C—F —_F-—
+=ZA=+—H AA=+—H
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Over 90 days HBiBo0X 5,783,587 7,090,316

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other payables and accrued
liabilities were denominated in the following currencies:

7N 5 8 B Al AN SRR M E R B AR
E{EA TS E%EHE

As at As at
31 December 31 May

2022 2022
S I

—E-_F ===

+=A=+—H AA=+—H

HK$ HK$

BT BT
RMB AR KK 42,228,185 7,756,975
HK$ BT 8,496,102 9,245,195
us$ ETT 1,382,260 2,202,168
MOP pealisla 112,216 89,621
52,218,763 19,293,959
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25. Contract liabilities

Disclosures of revenue-related items:

%= A

NN

A MR R M oL ()

BWNEE

HWSEBENEERELT ¢

25.

31 December 31 May 1 June
2022 2022 2021
—EC-_F T — T —fF
+=ZA=+—H AEETF—E ~NH—H
As at ® HK$ HK$ HK$
BT T BT
Contract liabilities EHBE
(non-current liabilities) GERga®E) 900,800 944,000 360,000
Contract receivables B 4 FE W FRIR
(included in trade receivables) (BEE S EIFHIE) 11,973,451 4,176,190 4,706,312
As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
i n
—E-CF —_F -
+=A=+—~H FA=+—8H
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
Transaction prices allocated to performance FAEf 4 K 5 Bt &= K&K B
obligations unsatisfied at end of period/ HWEEWTEHRUATFE
year and expected to be recognised as BRENZE LR HER
revenue in:
— 2024 — —Z 4 316,800 360,000
— 2025 — e 584,000 584,000
900,800 944,000
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re s maR M EE (8

25. Contract liabilities (Continued) 25. EH 8 E W)
Significant changes in contract liabilities during the period/year: H/ EFRNEHNBEZERNEE :
As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
iy S
—EF ===
t=-—A=+—H o H=r—E
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
Increase due to operations in the period/year — Hi,/4F ;) [ 4 3& i 1 0 — 584,000
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue aHaEdEasls (43,200) —
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer AaBElEAEERKBMESEKE
products or services to a customer for which the Group has received (FREBELEINP MEEZERIR
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the BFEEZEME-
customer.
As at 31 December 2022, contract liabilities amounted to R—ZE-——&+-_A=+—H" &%
HK$900,800 (31 May 2022: HK$944,000). The amount is expected BE/R90080E T(ZE-_FHHA
to be recognised as revenue within 3 years and the amount does =+ —H 944,000 B T) - B 1A
not include variable consideration which is constrained. JEHENIERNER AW BS ﬁa =

AN BREE RS R ERME -
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26. Amounts due to a related party 26. FE{TRA B 5 RIE
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. BEAZRBEAERT R NEKREX
fBg -
As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
—E-CF —_ -
+=A=+—H 1 A SEEIE
HK$ HK$
BT T
ST MA LTD (Note a) STMALTD (Fif 5t a) 35,756,788 —
Next Vision Management Limited (Note b) Next Vision Management Limited
(K sEb) 1,537,237 4,331,226
Notes: i 3
(a) ST MA LTD is beneficially owned by Mr. Ma Lie as to 100%, who is the director (@) STMALTDE B3I 4 A& & 255 100% °
of the Company. BAATES-
(b) Next Vision Management Limited is beneficially owned by Mr. Yeung Ho Ting (b) Next Vision Management Limited f 15 3% &£ &
Dennis as to 75%, who is the director of the Group. EEEERTS%  EARNEBHEE-
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27. Bank borrowings and overdrafts 27. BRITEREREX
As at 31 December 2022 and 31 May 2022, bank borrowings and A e s —l— HEkZ-ZF
overdrafts were repayable as follows: ZZFRA=+—H AEENRIT
BRREZWAT :

As at As at

31 December 31 May

2022 2022

i S

—E-CF —E-_F

+=-—HA=+—8 FA=+—H

HKS$ HK$

BT AT

Bank overdrafts RITEX — 991,146

Bank borrowings, secured: RITER - B

Balances repayable within one year BR—FAEERDER

classified as current liabilities MBI BERA ﬁ‘]’ 3,653,132 3,638,841
Balances repayable after one year, ARN—FREE BSK
with clause of repayable on demand EREREBRAEDER

classified as current liabilities B B G AR 5,923,700 6,883,766

9,576,832 11,513,753

The above bank borrowings bear interests ranging from 3.38% to N ERTERIRBEE_E_—F+—

6.63% per annum for the period/year ended 31 December 2022 (year B=+—RI-8BE EE2EMEN

ended 31 May 2022: 2.75% to 4.19%). F338%2663% (HE-_ZET_-__—_FF1

B=+—BItEE :275%%4.19%) °

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 May 2022, the fair value of R—T-——F+-_HA=+—HE=

current bank borrowings approximated their carrying amount, as ——FERHA=+—H ARBRE

the impact of discounting is not significant. TR BHETEZNAFEHAHE ;@
[EREREER
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27. Bank borrowings and overdrafts (Continued) 27. BRITERERELZ @

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 May 2022, the Group’s bank
borrowings based on the scheduled repayment dates as set out in
the loan agreements and ignoring the effect of any repayment on
demand clause were repayable as follows:

R—_ZE—_—F+_A=+—BK=_F
::ﬁﬂiﬁ +—H AEBERTE
KREARUNTHREZE(REER S
%ﬁ#aﬁmﬁﬁ 2 BE AT o] 2 B 3k

BRERNEE) :

As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
i n

—E-C—F —_F-—
+=-—HA=+—8 FA=+—H
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Within 1 year 1R 3,653,132 4,629,986
Between 1 and 2 years 1ZE2% 1,717,780 1,692,141
Between 2 and 5 years 2E 54 3,478,937 3,910,222
Over 5 years HBiE54F 726,983 1,281,404
9,576,832 11,513,753

The bank borrowings were denominated in HK$ (31 May 2022:
HK$).

The Group's bank borrowings as at 31 December 2022 and 31 May
2022 were secured by guarantees under the SME Financing
Guarantee Scheme by HKMC Insurance Limited (“HKMCI"),
corporate guarantee and director’s personal guarantee.

The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its
borrowing facilities during the period/year ended 31 December
2022 and 31 May 2022.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —Z = —fF% =

fEfﬂﬁ*”i’]M/%EnﬂE e el
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MNZZT__FRAA=+—BHRITE
HEBAEEREERAR(EBIE
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27. Bank borrowings and overdrafts (Continued) 27. BRITEREREZ @
Banking facilities RITRE
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had total banking facilities of R—_E-_—_F+-_HF=+—H ' Xx&
HK$13,000,000 (31 May 2022: HK$13,000,000), of which B /IR 17 Bt & 42 58 /& 13,000,000 7% JT
HK$9,576,832 (31 May 2022: HK$11,513,753) were utilised. The (ZEZZ%FRHA=+—8 : 13,000,000
Group's banking facilities were secured by the following: BIr) c EH9,576,8RB n(ZE ==

AA=+—H:11513,753/870) C &
e AREBMRITREN T &EME

A

(i) as at 31 December 2022, the issue of guarantees under the ) MZEBE—_—_F+=—RA=+—8"
SME Financing Guarantee Scheme by HKMCI which is wholly EAEFRR(BEEERITH
owned by the government of Hong Kong Special ERFE2EHEB)BEFR /DR
Administrative Region to the extent of HK$10,000,000 (31 B ERET 2% E 5 % 10,000,000
May 2022: HK$10,000,000); and BLT(ZCE-_—_FRA=+—8:

10,000,0007% 7T) K &R : &

(i) as at 31 December 2022 and 31 May 2022, corporate iy, RZE-—_=—F+=-A=+—8K
guarantee by the Company and the personal guarantee by a —E-__FAA=+—H8 &R
director of the Company. ARHEMNAGEREARE —F

EXRHUMEAER-
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A ISR (E)

28. Deferred taxation 28. E L 1E

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities prior to
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction is as

1594 ) — Bt 75 5 R P A B S
FEHAERABNEHNT :

follows:
Provision
for Right-of-
Accelerated impairment use assets
tax of trade Tax and lease
depreciation receivables losses liabilities Total
nE E 5 Rl EREEE
RIEHE REERE BEFE RHESEEE At
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 June 2021 R-ZE—_—FA—H 7,079,126 (990,839) (5,592,731) (67,955) 427,601
(Credited)/charged (Ft A#Ez)/ BB =K
to profit or loss (711,767) (168,273) 310,115 2,308 (567,617)

At 31 May 2022 NR-_EFE_——
and 1June2022 F#A=+—8HEFK
—E-=F,H—H

(Credited)/charged  (5F AfB2%), /B 1B & 1Bk
to profit or loss (592,873)

6,367,359  (1,159,112) (5,282,616) (65,647) (140,016)

(297,290) 157,924 18,931 (713,308)

At 31 December N-—ETE—-—
2022 +—-—H=+—H

5,774,486  (1,456,402) (5,124,692)

(46,716)  (853,324)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit
through the future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December
2022, the Group did not recognise deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$2,512,448 (31 May 2022: HK2,076,332) in
respect of accumulated tax losses of the PRC and Macau
subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$10,934,054 (31 May
2022: HK$8,523,008) that can be carried forward against future
taxable income. The tax losses of these PRC subsidiaries is
amounting to approximately HK$9,233,551 (31 May 2022:
HK$8,104,394), will expire within 5 years, while the tax losses of
the Macau subsidiary is amounting to approximately HK $1,700,503
(31 May 2022: HK$418,614), do not have an expiry date.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

ERBERIBARRERNAEER
EERBHNENERAT  FesE
RIEEBERRELEMEREE - K=
T o = SR e =
ERL R B MBI B A A A AR
HAREREWAN R RIBEIE
4710,934,054%8 T(ZZE = —_F A1 A
=+—H : 8,523,008/ Jr) it R IR I X
EEEMN25124488 T(ZE ==

AA=+—H:207633287C) - %%
o BB 8 A B A B IB & 18 499,233,551
Brn(ZE-_—_F#AA=+—8:
8,104,394 7T ) & F5F A [E w8
FI KT B 2~ & /Y B 18 &5 18 491,700,503
T € N e =
418,614 7o) N & fE i A B -
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29. Lease liabilities 29. HEE®E
Present value of
Lease payments lease payments
HEMK HEMREAE
As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 May 31 December 31 May
2022 2022 2022 2022
—E-CE === —B-F -2
+t=A=t+-8 HEA=+-8B +=A=+-8 HA=+-H
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B BT
Within one year —FR 4,043,943 3,136,486 3,707,898 2,967,170
In the second to fifth years, E_ZERE
inclusive (PEEREME) 443,609 1,886,575 309,508 1,838,803
4,487,552 5,023,061
Less: Future finance charges B ORREE R X (470,146) (217,088)
Present value of lease liabilites  HE&EHRE 4,017,406 4,805,973 4,017,406 4,805,973

Less: Amount due for settlement 5 : 71218 A A 2| Hi 17

within 12 months (shown AR FUE
under current liabilities) (RREBHEEBET
57R) (3,707,898) (2,967,170)

Amount due for settlement after 71218 B 1% 2| HA 36 78 4

12 months B B FUE 309,508 1,838,803
At 31 December 2022, the average borrowing rate was 5.5% (31 R-BE-_—_F#+-_A=+—H"F
May 2022: 5.5%). Interest rates are fixed at the contract dates and HERMEESS%(ZE__FFA
thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. =+—H:55%) FI|RREHBHE

E-ASEAKEBEATFEMNERR -
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A ISR (E)

30. Share capital

30. IR

Number of Share
shares capital
vk =] fi% 2<
HK$

BT

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

s

Authorised: P

E
At 1 June 2021, 31 May 2022 and R—_E_—FHA—H"
—_E-_—_FHA=t+—"HE

31 December 2022

SR MEE0.0178 T Ay X A%

=S s e T s = =g 3,000,000,000 30,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRERE:
At 1 June 2021, 31 May 2022 and R=ZE-_—F,H—H"
31 December 2022 —E-_FRA=FT—HK
—E__§+-A=+—H 800,000,000 8,000,000

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
period/year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes
amount due to a related party, bank borrowings and overdraft as
disclosed in notes 26 and 27, net of cash and cash equivalents and
equity of the Group, comprising issued share capital and reserves.
Management of the Group reviews the capital structure regularly
taking into account the cost of capital and the risk associated with
the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure
through issue of new shares, raise of new borrowings or repayment
of existing borrowings.

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
which became effective on 19 May 2017. Eligible participants of
the Scheme include the Group’s directors and employees, etc.
During the period ended 31 December 2022, no options were
granted (31 May 2022: same).

AEEEREEA  5EEBERED
BENEELBETE  RRAEE
ERTREMEE  DARRGERA
B %o AR E N LR — 5
B FREL RS ETE -

AEEMNEAEBREEE(BEN
26 %27 N B FE B FE T BE B 5 5K IE - iR
TEREREX BEHBRRSERESE
BY EAEBRE(BREDZEITRA
LEE) AEBEEEEHRTER
B EREREAKNARBEEALRR
BERER AEBEEBETHRG
EETERBEEREENR UFEY

Mo ZetBMEERLBEEREASE
BEEEREEESE - BHE_ZT__F
+-ZA=+—BLHHE MERHE
EE(ZE_—_FAA=+—8:#
@) e
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31. Reserves 31. f&fE
(a) Group (a) =%
The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements therein AEBNEESEREZEFH IR
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss CAEEBRLEMEEKREREE
and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement SRR EFBRANZTY -

of changes in equity.

(b) Company (b) AT
Share Capital Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RGOBE RERZE E- Bt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
& TT & TT T T
At 1 June 2021 MR-ZZT - —F/XA—H 56,496,624 32,709,141 (33,862,572) 55,343,193
Loss and total comprehensive & A &5 18 K& & & 18
loss for the year FER — == (16,881,072) (16,881,072)
At 31 May 2022 and A
1 June 2022 EA=+—BER

—E-_F;NA—H 56,496,624 32,709,141 (50,743,644) 38,462,121

Profit and total B s ) & 2 W E
comprehensive income for 42 %58
the period — — 3,361,689 3,361,689
At 31 December 2022 RZE__F
= E=4—8 56,496,624 32,709,141 (47,381,955) 41,823,810
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32.

33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Related party transactions

Key management compensation

Key management includes directors and other key management of
the Group. The compensation paid or payable to key management
for employee services is shown below:

ire IS R T AT ()

32. BB AR F

TEEEASEHM

TEEEABRBRASENESZRA
MEBREEABE -FLEEBRHME M
HENEZEBEABFMIIRAT

1/6/2022 to 1/6/2021 to
31/12/2022 31/5/2022
—E== e —
/\_\ H - E :KI: /\ H E ==
—E=-= i — =
+=—A=+—H EA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, other allowances and benefits e HaEaLRER 2,558,374 2,783,025
Pension costs — contributions to defined B & E R — AT/ EH K
contribution plans =T 2l 5K 142,697 235,595
2,701,071 3,018,620

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by the employees up to the period end date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses,
based on performance and taking into consideration the
profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation.

33. EE®/A
() EEEZRHRY
BETEFBROEMNERES
ARER - CHRBEHMAEA

BEMEHBRBEELENESFR
BIRFLEE -

BEZANHERRERENRIK
BREFJT THERR

(i) BRE58

AEBREXEREZEE THE
%5 B AN R B BUR 2 s M 2R e
RABRBEAX - NREBRA
EENETIEAEENMmESE
HeE B R RER B -

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —Z=—F%—/%x &% 163



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A SRR (8

33. Employee benefits (Continued) 33. EERA @)
(iii) Pension obligation (iii) BEkE&FE
The Group operates various defined contribution retirement REBREZELEFHEERSY
benefit plans which are available to all relevant employees. Al Z M) E BB BUR KB A A
These plans are generally funded through payments to Bl EAE—MRBEBBAKRTE
schemes established by governments or trustee administered VHEE S TEATENES
funds. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under KIEBESL KR - EREMt K2
which the Group pays contributions on mandatory, B—IEEKRESTE NEFHEE
contractual or voluntary basis into a separate entity. The ZEE IR EIRTE AL A
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further FEEEMBBETEMHT - HzE
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay SREEFERHNEENRALDE
all employees the benefits relating to employee services in the BESNEBERRETHREE
current and prior periods. The Group’s contributions to the ERBENEN AEFBHEEE
defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred. SHEEFETHELE—FHR K

& B 7 E BB AT Bl (F A R
RELERHE -

34. Contingent liabilities 3. RAREE
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December R—_E_—_F+_-_A=+—BER_F
2022 and 31 May 2022. T —FAR=+—H AEEVES
AHKARAE-
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35. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash

4= A

N

35. mEBRERERME

flow
(@) Change in liabilities arising from financing ) MEZTHFFELEEENSE
activities E3)
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities TREEHR m EFFEE
arising from financing activities during the year/period. FELAEHNE
Amount due
Other related Lease Bank
borrowings parties liabilities  borrowings Total
EREBS
Hitifg R RE HEEE RITER @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 June 2021 RN-ZZE-_—%A—H — — 5,406,916 9,508,427 14,915,343
Changes in cash flows Behes — 4,331,226 (3,252,201) 1,639,618 2,718,643
Non-cash changes: 3?2@%“@
— Additions —RNE — — 2,380,648 — 2,380,648
— Interest charged —HEBEANSHY
on lease liabilities — — 278,517 365,708 644,225
— Exchange difference —ERES — — (7,907) — (7,907)
At 31 May 2022 and R-_ZE-_—F#RA=+—A8K
1 June 2022 —E-_—_%#xXA—H — 4,331,226 4,805,973 11,513,753 20,650,952
Changes in cash flows RenEgy 4,189,804 32,962,799 (2,034,843) (2,175,181) 32,942,579
Non-cash changes: FHLEE:
— Additions —AE = — 598,964 — 598,964
— Acquisition on business  — ¥7%& A G B
combination 29,011.913 — 542,512 — 29,554,425
— Interest charged —HMERXY — — 129,953 238,260 368,213
— Exchange difference —[EHE=% — — (25,153) — (25,153)
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—f+-A=+—-8 33201717 37,294,025 4017406 9576832 84,089,980

(b)

Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 18 August 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of
22.9% of the then enlarged issued share capital of Shenzhen
Xinhang, which is principally engaged in (i) the provision of
one-stop technical consulting services and solutions for
e-commerce business platforms; and (ii) metaverse technology
business, by capital injection of RMB34,000,000 (approximately
HK$39,312,501). As the Group has control over the board of
director of Shenzhen Xinhang, the financial results of
Shenzhen Xinhang have been consolidated to the Group for
the period ended 31 December 2022 since 18 August 2022.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

(b) WEKELRQF

RZE_—_FNA+NA &X&E
B & 8 )F & A K 34,000,000 70
(4939,312,501 7% 7T ) 5 Ak Ut B8 %
NEMERLBEADEHITRAE
229% ' ZAREBEHRBNAE
%ﬁ%¥%$A%1fmﬁﬁﬁ
& nﬁﬂ&%&%ﬁ’—/ﬂﬁ* , &(II)TE%
ERMERS - AR AEEH R
ENMMESSHAEGE  FY
ENMNYBEEBE -_S=-_F)N\
At+tNBREAEEHZ-ZT
—oHE+ - A=t+—HI-HE®
EERAAR-
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35. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 35. MERERERMFT @
flow (continued)

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued) (b) WEEMEB A 7 (&)
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of TS RN B A HZRNEENRE
Shenzhen Xinhang acquired as at its date of acquisition, ERWEHSHNAFEEREERR
which has no significant difference from its carrying amount, BYEEAEZR BN
is as follows:
HK$
I
Net assets acquired: Fr W B8 5 & B
Equity investments at fair value through BAFESAREMEE RS
other comprehensive income HEREE 34,688,000
Right-of-use assets TREEE 522,705
Trade receivables Z 5 R IE 10,283,422
Prepayments, deposit and other receivables TERN NI - 1= K& CH M e W R 197,506,687
Cash and bank balances Be MBITES 11,633,559
Trade payables 2 5 e RIE (592,466)
Lease liabilities HEAE (542,512)
Tax payable FE T B 18 (1,088,304)
Other payables and accrued liabilities H fth fE At R IE R e AT B B (29,164,913)
223,246,178
Less: Non-controlling interests W FEIE AR A (172,165,443)
51,080,735
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition of a subsidiary U i Bt B8 722 5] £ 3 (B U i U 25 (11,768,234)
Satisfied by: AT 51 75 (B
Deemed consideration by the capital injection EERBRE 39,312,501
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WHEENRESMAFE:
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FIER SRR EEEY 11,633,559
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35. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash
flow (Continued)

35. MERERERMT @

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued) (b) WEEF B A T (&)

The Group recognised a gain on bargain purchase of
HK$11,768,234 in the business combination. The gain is
included in other income. The business combination results in
a gain on bargain purchase because the net asset of
Shenzhen Xinhang was HK$51,080,735, while the Group
acquired Shenzhen Xinhang by capital injection of
RMB34,000,000, which is approximately HK$39,312,501.

Shenzhen Xinhang contributed approximately HK$4,060,795
and HK$19,465,721 to the Group profit for the period for the
period between the date of acquisition and the end of the
reporting period.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 June 2022, total
Group revenue for the period would have been
HK$51,048,000, and profit for the period would have been
HK$8,422,000. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of the
revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually
would have been achieved had the acquisition been
completed on 1 June 2022, nor is intended to be a projection
of future results.
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AEBREBGHERZERE
U 511,768,234 7T » W 25 51 A
HMA - EBEHELENEE
WEKDFEEFISMAFEE
51,080,735/ 7t + M 2~ & B & i
E B A R % 34,000,000 7T Y B %
JIEI + % K #939,312,501E 7T °

FHEMRWEEREREHRR
HEAASETERMB AR
4,060,795/ 7T 5 19,465,721/ JT °

MWER S —F A —H
EXCASEBEHRRNAKE G A
51,048,000 7T » i HA (A i Al 1%
£8,422,00078 It © 1= & K& #
SRS - WIS 7 R U R
TE - EXA—HEKHIER
TAEEERGHEEHRE &K
BEE NEBSBARKES-
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36.

Statement of financial position of the

36. 2~ B B B # AR R &

company
As at As at
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
i n
—E-—F —ZE=-=

+=A=+-8 EA=+—8H
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Non-current assets EMEBEE
Investments in a subsidiary KRB ARMIKE 84,021,650 44,709,149

Current assets MENVEE
Prepayments and other receivables & 5K IE K H At B W kIR 9,729 122,132
Amount due from a subsidiary NG E ] 1,050,087 5,659,896
Cash and cash equivalents BE LIRS EEY 2,640,947 57,718
3,700,763 5,839,746
Current liabilities mENEE

Other payables and accrued liabilities EmEgEkETaE 37,898,603 4,086,774
37,898,603 4,086,774
Net current (liabilities)/assets e (BE) BEFEE (34,197,840) 1,752,972
Net assets BEEE 49,823,810 46,462,121

Capital and reserves BAR R
Share capital % 7R 8,000,000 8,000,000
Reserves & 41,823,810 38,462,121
Total equity N5 49,823,810 46,462,121
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37. Subsidiaries

Particulars of the subsidiaries held by the Group as at 31 December

2022 and 31 May 2022 are as follows:

ire MR M EE ()

37. B A A

AEBR-_F_—_F+-_HA=+—H
M—_ZE_—FAA=t—HFANN
BRARMHBNT :

Issued
and fully
Place and date paid share Percentage of equity held
Name of incorporation capital as at 31 December Principal activities
T 8 B 3L 3t B BETR R+=B=+-H
% REH HERK ey $53=Fid TEEH
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
—8-C —E-—
+=ZA=+-8B #HA=t+-H
% %
Direct subsidiaries
EEMEBAR
In Technical Productions (B.V.l.) The BVI Us$100 100 100 Investment holding in Hong
Limited (“ITP (BVI)") 9 November 2016 Kong
In Technical Productions B.V.l) RERZEHE - 100% 7T REBREER
Limited (1TP (BVI)) “Z-RFT-ANA
Indirect subsidiaries
BEHELE
TP (HK) Hong Kong, HK$10,000 100 100 Provision of video display
10 March 2009 solution services for
concerts and events in
Hong Kong, Macau, the
PRC and Taiwan
TP (HK) Bk 10,0003 7T REE R FERAE
ZZTAE=ATA MEBE REBRHER
BERBRADRRB
Shiji Tiansheng Cultural The PRC, RMB3,500,000 100 100 Provision of video display
Communication (Shenzhen) 4 July 2012 solution services for
Limited* concerts and events in the
PRC
taERE L EE HE - AR #3,500,0007% BHREREES REERE
CRINBR A —E-—#+ANA REBRRALERE
Shanghai Yingtegao Stage ~ The PRC, RMB1,000,000 100 100 Provision of stage design and
Arts Limited* 14 October 2014 equipment installation
services in the PRC
LEEBRESEN HE AR %1,000,0007C TR BIR M5 AR Rt
BRDA* ZE-NETATHMA ZERH
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ire WS R M AT ()

37.

Subsidiaries (Continued)

VIl==NCIRG §)

Issued
and fully
Place and date paid share Percentage of equity held
Name of incorporation capital as at 31 December Principal activities
TR AR L B ERTR R+=A=+-H
1 REH BRBRA FisRERIL TEED
31 December 31 May
2022 2022
—BICE —T-—F
+=ZA=+-8B HA=1+—A
% %
Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng The PRC, RMB500,000 70 70 Import and export and
Technology Limited* 11 July 2013 wholesale of video
equipment and parts and
related support services in
the PRC
RN A R B R R AR %500,0007C EHEEAREARSER
BRDR “E-=5tA+-H BRE LT RIEH
X R
InTechPro Macau Limited Macau, MOP500,000 100 100 Provision of video display
27 November 2017 solution services for
concerts and events in
Macau
EERRM—-ABRRE RN 500,000 P9 % RRMKERE REHRE
—t&+—-RA=++tH REBTRRALERE
Shenzhen Xinhang® The PRC, RMB1,485,957,180 22.9 — Information technology
11 June 2020 consulting service
RYER HE AR 1,485,957,180 T B AR A RS
ZT-TFXAt+—H
Guangzhou Yichiyuan The PRC, RMB50,000,000 100 — Information technology
Technology Limited" 11 July 2022 consulting service
ENERTRBBERAR & AR %50,000,0007C B A R A R TS
ZE-Z%+A+—H
Anxu Technology Limited Hong Kong, HK$1,000,000 100 — Information technology
25 May 2022 consulting service
ZEMBAERAF R 1,000,0007%5 7 BB AR
ZE--fRARZt+AA
* The company is established as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC. 4 ZARRRFEKIIIEBERE -
“ The company is established as a limited liability company in the PRC. i ZARBRPBKRIMNEREERA]
Note: The English names of certain subsidiaries referred to above represent the best M AR ERETHBRARALEE HEXSA

effort by management of the Company in translating their Chinese names as

they do not have official English names.
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37.

38.

39.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Although the Group owns less than 50% of the equity interest in
Shenzhen Xinhang Information Technology Company Limited
(“Shenzhen Xinhang”), Shenzhen Xinhang is treated as a subsidiary
because the Group is able to control the relevant activities of
Shenzhen Xinhang as a result of the shareholders’ agreement
between the Group and other shareholders of Shenzhen Xinhang.

Event occurring after the reporting period

On 3 March 2023 (after trading hours), Shenzhen Kingdom Travel
Company Limited (“Kingdom Travel”), Zeng Yan, Huang Wenqing,
Hu Zhonggiang, Zhong Weiwen, Lai Jian and Li Jiangming
(collectively, the “Vendors”) entered into an equity transfer
agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement”) with Guangzhou
Yiciyuan Technology Company Limited (“Guangzhou Yiciyuan”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Shenzhen
Jinlv. World Travel Agency Company Limited (the “Target
Company”), pursuant to which the Vendors agreed to conditionally
transfer and Guangzhou Yiciyuan agreed to conditionally purchase
the entire equity interests in the Target Company (the
“Acquisition”).

The Board is pleased to announce that on 7 March 2023 (after
trading hours), the Company entered into a memorandum of
understanding (the “MOU") with Shenzhen Moni Technology Co.,
Ltd ORI EEEHEBRR2AF]) (“Moni Technology”), pursuant to
which the Company intends to acquire the equity interest in Moni
Technology by way of capital injection or transfer of equity interest
(the “Proposed Acquisition”).

Approval of consolidated financial statements

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2023.
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Financial Summary

MBERE

Result E
For
the period ended
For the year ended 31 May 31 December
S
+=-A=+-H
BERIA=T-ALEE EE S
2019 2020 2021 2022 2022
—ZE-NF —ZE-TF —E-—F == —E-C
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT FET
Revenue U 25 94,273 44,715 12,349 20,347 40,238
Cost of services PR 75 B AR (48,135) (42,001) (34,850) (31,835) (29,246)
Gross profit/(loss) EF/(E8) 46,138 2,714 (22,501) (11,488) 10,993
Profit/(loss) for the year  4F /% 1,/ (E548) 22,536 (24,305) (35,078) (24,409) 7,467
Assets and Liabilities EERAE
As at
As at 31 May 31 December
Bn+=A
REA=+-—H =+-H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2022
—ZE-NEF —ZE-TF T = Tl —E-C
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET FHT FHT FET
Non-current assets HRBEE 90,475 98,823 86,271 75,164 101,291
Current assets MBEE 69,977 31,245 14,826 12,293 226,104
Non-current liabilites  JEREIE & 7,589 6,699 3,851 2,783 1,210
Current liabilities TEEE 23,200 18,068 26,913 38,735 105,454
Net current assets/ nBEE/(BE)
(liabilities) FH 46,777 13,177 (12,087) (26,442) 120,649
Net assets EEFE 129,663 105,301 70,333 45,939 220,730

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated — i E I AR K TGS T KRR 2
financial statements. — 3RS
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